Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 1 of 99

#### COLE, SCHOTZ, MEISEL, FORMAN & LEONARD, P.A.

A Professional Corporation Court Plaza North 25 Main Street P.O. Box 800 Hackensack, New Jersey 07602-0800 Michael D. Sirota, Esq. David M. Bass, Esq. Felice R. Yudkin, Esq. (201) 489-3000 (201) 489-1536 Facsimile Attorneys for MEE Apparel LLC and MEE Direct LLC, Debtors-in-Possession

In re:

MEE APPAREL LLC and MEE DIRECT LLC,

Debtors-in-Possession.

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY HONORABLE CHRISTINE M. GRAVELLE CASE NO. 14-16484 (CMG)

> Chapter 11 (Jointly Administered)

#### NOTICE OF CLOSING ON SALE OF SUBSTANTIALLY ALL OF THE DEBTORS' ASSETS

WHEREAS, on April 2, 2014, MEE Apparel LLC and MEE Direct LLC, the above-

captioned debtors and debtors-in-possession (the "Debtors") filed that certain Motion for an

Order Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. §§ 363 and 365 and Fed. R. Bankr. P. 2002, 6004 and 6006: (1)

Approving "Stalking Horse" Asset Purchase Agreement for the Sale of Substantially All the

Debtors' Assets; (2) Approving Bidding Procedures and Form, Manner and Sufficiency of

Notice; (3) Scheduling (A) an Auction Sale and (B) a Hearing to Consider Approving the

Highest and Best Offer; (4) Authorizing the Debtors to Sell Substantially All of Their Assets Free

and Clear of Liens, Claims, Encumbrances, and Interests and to Assume and Assign Certain

#### Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 2 of 99

Related Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases; and (5) Granting Other Related Relief [Docket No. 26] (the "Sale Motion"); and

WHEREAS, prior to the Filing Date, the Debtors and Suchman, LLC (the "**Buyer**") entered into that certain Asset Purchase Agreement By and Among MEE Apparel LLC, MEE Direct LLC and Suchman, LLC, dated as of April 2, 2014 (the "**Original APA**"), a copy of which was annexed to the Sale Motion; and

WHEREAS, at the hearing on May 28, 2014, the Court (a) authorized the Debtors to (i) sell substantially all of their assets to the Buyer free and clear of liens, claims, encumbrances and interests and (ii) assume and assign certain related executory contracts and unexpired leases, and (b) granted other related relief, which was then memorialized in the Court's May 29, 2014 Order Under 11 U.S.C. §§ 105(a), 363 and 365 (I) Authorizing and Approving the Sale of Substantially all of the Debtors' Assets Free and Clear of Liens, Claims, Encumbrances, and Interests, (II) Authorizing and Approving the Assumption and Assignment of Certain Unexpired Leases of Non-Residential Real Property in Connection with the Sale, (III) Authorizing Buyer to Exercise Lease Designation Rights and Approving Procedures Relating to Such Designation Rights, and (IV) Granting Related Relief [Docket No. 244] (the "Sale Order"); and

WHEREAS, in connection with the closing on the sale of the Debtors' assets, the Debtors and the Buyer entered into that certain Amended and Restated Asset Purchase Agreement By and Among MEE Apparel LLC, MEE Direct LLC and Suchman, LLC, dated as of May 30, 2014 (the "**APA**"), a copy of which is attached hereto as <u>**Exhibit A**</u>; and

WHEREAS, attached hereto as <u>**Exhibit B**</u> is the APA, compared against the Original APA, to reflect changes that were made to the APA since the execution the Original APA.

2

Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 3 of 99

## ACCORDINGLY,

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on May 30, 2014, the Debtors and the Buyer closed on

the transactions contemplated by the APA and authorized pursuant to the Sale Order.

Respectfully submitted,

COLE, SCHOTZ, MEISEL, FORMAN & LEONARD, P.A. Attorneys for MEE Apparel LLC and MEE Direct LLC, Debtors-in-Possession

By: /s/ David M. Bass

Michael D. Sirota, Esq. David M. Bass, Esq. Felice R. Yudkin, Esq.

DATED: June 6, 2014

Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 4 of 99

# **EXHIBIT** A

## AMENDED AND RESTATED ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

## **BY AND AMONG**

# **MEE APPAREL LLC,**

# **MEE DIRECT LLC**

AND

# SUCHMAN, LLC

Dated as of May 30, 2014

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I DEFINITIO	DNS	1
Section 1.1	Certain Definitions	1
Section 1.2	Other Definitional and Interpretive Matters	9
ARTICLE II PURCHASE AND SALE OF ASSETS; ASSUMPTION OF LIABILITIES 10		
Section 2.1	Purchase and Sale of Assets	10
Section 2.2	Excluded Assets	12
Section 2.3	Assumption of Liabilities	13
Section 2.4	Purchased Assets	15
Section 2.5	Further Conveyances and Assumptions	15
Section 2.6	Transitional Matters	15
Section 2.7	Bulk Sales Laws	16
ARTICLE III CONSIDERATION		16
Section 3.1	Purchase Price; Assumed Liabilities	16
ARTICLE IV CLOSING AND TERMINATION		17
Section 4.1	Closing Date	17
Section 4.2	Deliveries by Sellers	17
Section 4.3	Deliveries by Buyer	17
Section 4.4	Termination of Agreement	17
Section 4.5	Procedure Upon Termination	19
Section 4.6	Effect of Termination	19
ARTICLE V REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLERS		
Section 5.1	Authorization of Agreement	20
Section 5.2	Title to Purchased Assets	20

# Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 7 of 99

Section 5.3	Real Property	20
Section 5.4	Tangible Personal Property	20
Section 5.5	Intellectual Property	21
Section 5.6	Financial Advisors	21
Section 5.7	Litigation	21
Section 5.8	Compliance with Laws	21
Section 5.9	Permits	21
Section 5.10	Inventory	21
Section 5.11	Contracts	22
Section 5.12	Taxes	22
Section 5.13	Employee Benefits	22
Section 5.14	Labor Matters	23
Section 5.15	Sellers' Representations and Warranties Generally	24
ARTICLE VI REPRESI	ENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER	24
Section 6.1	Organization and Good Standing	24
Section 6.2	Authorization of Agreement	24
Section 6.3	Financial Advisors	24
Section 6.4	Litigation	24
Section 6.5	Financial Capability	25
Section 6.6	Condition of the Business	25
ARTICLE VII BANKR	UPTCY COURT APPROVAL	25
Section 7.1	Approval of Expense Reimbursement and Overbid Protection	25
Section 7.2	Competing Transaction	26
Section 7.3	Bankruptcy Court Filings	26
ARTICLE VIII COVEN	IANTS	26

# Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 8 of 99

Section 8.1	Access to Information	26
Section 8.2	Further Assurances	27
Section 8.3	Confidentiality	27
Section 8.4	Preservation of Records	
Section 8.5	Publicity	
Section 8.6	Operation of Business	
Section 8.7	Section 363(b)(1)(A)	
Section 8.8 Certain F	Adequate Assurances Regarding Purchased Contracts and Real Property Leases	30
Section 8.9	Material Adverse Effect	
Section 8.10	Employee Matters	
Section 8.11	[Intentionally omitted]	31
Section 8.12	Stayed Tax Liens	31
Section 8.13	Cooperation	31
Section 8.14	[Intentionally omitted]	31
Section 8.15	Purchased Claims	31
ARTICLE IX CONDITIONS TO CLOSING		31
Section 9.1	Conditions Precedent to Obligations of Buyer	31
Section 9.2	Conditions Precedent to Obligations of Sellers	
Section 9.3	Condition Precedent to Obligations of Buyer and Sellers	33
Section 9.4	Frustration of Closing Conditions	34
ARTICLE X NO SURV	/IVAL	34
Section 10.1	No Survival of Representations and Warranties	34
ARTICLE XI TAX MA	TTERS	34
Section 11.1	Transfer Taxes	34
Section 11.2	Purchase Price Allocation	34

# Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 9 of 99

Section 11.3	Audits, Claims and Proceedings	34
ARTICLE XII MISCELI	LANEOUS	34
Section 12.1	Expenses	34
Section 12.2	Submission to Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process	35
Section 12.3	Waiver of Right to Trial by Jury	35
Section 12.4	Entire Agreement; Amendments and Waivers	35
Section 12.5	Governing Law	36
Section 12.6	Notices	36
Section 12.7	Severability	37
Section 12.8	Binding Effect; Assignment	37
Section 12.9	Counterparts	37

# **EXHIBITS**

Exhibit A	Sale Procedures Order
Exhibit B	Sale Order

# **SCHEDULES**

Schedule 1.1(a)	Contracts; Leases; Intellectual Property
Schedule 1.1(c)	Purchased Contracts
Schedule 1.1(d)	Purchased Intellectual Property
Schedule 2.1	Additional Purchased Assets
Schedule 2.1(r)	Critical Trade Vendors
Schedule 2.2(j)	Additional Excluded Assets
Schedule 2.3(a)	Assumed Liabilities
Schedule 2.6(c)	Real Property Leases (Transitional)
Schedule 5.3	Assumed Real Property Leases
Schedule 5.7	Litigation
Schedule 5.12	Tax
Schedule 5.13	Employee Benefit Plans
Schedule 5.14(a)	Labor Matters
Schedule 8.6(i)	Affiliate Transactions
Schedule 9.1(g)	Cure Amounts

#### AMENDED AND RESTATED ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT, dated as of May 30, 2014 (this "<u>Agreement</u>"), is entered into by and among MEE Apparel LLC, a New Jersey limited liability company ("<u>Apparel</u>"), MEE Direct LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("<u>Direct</u>" and, together with Apparel, each a "<u>Seller</u>" and collectively, "<u>Sellers</u>"), and Suchman, LLC ("<u>Buyer</u>").

## WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Sellers and Buyer are parties to the DIP Financing and the Loan Agreement;

WHEREAS, Sellers commenced cases (the "<u>Bankruptcy Cases</u>") under Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Code (as it may be amended from time to time as applicable to the Bankruptcy Cases, the "<u>Bankruptcy Code</u>") in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of New Jersey (the "<u>Bankruptcy Court</u>") on April 2, 2014 (the "<u>Petition Date</u>") and entered into that certain Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of the Petition Date (as amended, restated, modified or supplemented, the "<u>Original Purchase Agreement</u>");

WHEREAS, Sellers shall retain possession of their assets and be authorized under the Bankruptcy Code to continue the operation of their businesses as debtors-in-possession;

WHEREAS, Sellers desire to sell, transfer and assign to Buyer, and Buyer desires to acquire and assume from Sellers, pursuant to Sections 363 and 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, the Purchased Assets and Assumed Liabilities as more specifically provided herein; and

WHEREAS, Sellers and Buyer intend that this Agreement amend and restate in its entirety the Original Purchase Agreement as set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter contained, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

## ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1 <u>Certain Definitions</u>. For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings specified in this <u>Section 1.1</u>:

"<u>Accounts Receivable</u>" means all accounts, accounts receivable, contract rights to payment, notes, and notes receivable of Sellers related to the Business.

"<u>Affiliate</u>" means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, such Person, and the term "<u>control</u>" (including the terms "<u>controlled by</u>" and "<u>under</u> <u>common control with</u>") means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, whether through ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

#### Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 12 of 99

"Alternative Proposal" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2.

"<u>Assets</u>" means collectively, the Purchased Assets and the Excluded Assets.

"Assumed Liabilities" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.

"Auction" has the meaning set forth in the Bid Procedures Order.

"Bankruptcy Cases" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

"Bankruptcy Code" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

"Bankruptcy Court" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

"Benefit Plan" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.13(a).

"<u>Business</u>" means the business and operations of Sellers relating to the wholesale and retail sale of clothing and accessories.

"<u>Business Day</u>" means any day of the year on which national banking institutions in New York are open to the public for conducting business and are not required or authorized to close.

"<u>Buyer</u>" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Buyer Documents" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2.

"Cash Payment" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.

"<u>Closing</u>" has the meaning set forth in <u>Section 4.1</u>.

"<u>Closing Date</u>" has the meaning set forth in <u>Section 4.1</u>.

"<u>COBRA</u>" has the meaning set forth in <u>Section 5.13(a)</u>.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

"Competing Bid" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2(a).

"<u>Contract</u>" means any contract, indenture, note, bond, lease, Real Property Lease, Personal Property Lease or other agreement (including, without limitation, employment and consulting agreements) to which any Seller is a party, relating to the Business, as set forth on <u>Schedule 1.1(a)</u>.

"<u>Critical Trade Vendors</u>" means those entities, if any, set forth on <u>Schedule 2.1(r)</u> (such schedule to be updated by Buyer in its sole and absolute discretion from time to time until one (1) Business Day prior to the Closing Date; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that no such update shall result in an adjustment of the Purchase Price).

#### Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 13 of 99

"<u>Critical Vendor Motion</u>" means a critical vendor motion in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer in its sole and absolute discretion.

"<u>Cure Amounts</u>" means any and all amounts required, as a condition to assumption or assignment, to be paid to a non-debtor party to a Purchased Contract pursuant to Section 365(b) of the Bankruptcy Code.

"<u>DIP Financing</u>" means that certain Financing Agreement by and among Sellers and the lender party thereto, dated as of April 2, 2014, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented or modified from time to time.

"DIP Order" means any Order of the Bankruptcy Court relating to the DIP Financing.

"<u>Documents</u>" means all files, documents, instruments, papers, books, reports, records, tapes, microfilms, photographs, letters, budgets, forecasts, ledgers, journals, title policies, customer lists, regulatory filings, operating data and plans, technical documentation (design specifications, functional requirements, operating instructions, logic manuals, flow charts, etc.), user documentation (installation guides, user manuals, training materials, release notes, working papers, etc.), marketing documentation (sales brochures, flyers, pamphlets, web pages, etc.), and other similar materials related to the Business and the Purchased Assets, in each case whether or not in electronic form.

"<u>Employee Claims</u>" means any claim, demand, action, cause of action, damage, loss, cost, Liability or expense, including legal costs, made or brought by any Employee, including, but not limited to, any Employment Claim made pursuant to any applicable Laws relating to employment standards, occupational health and safety, labor relations, workers compensation, pay equity, employment equity, the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act, the Family and Medical Leave Act or the Fair Labor Standards Act or any other federal, state or local, statutory or decisional Law regarding employment discrimination.

"<u>Employee Obligations</u>" means all wages, bonuses, vacation pay, sick time, pension payments, overtime pay, change of control payments, severance pay and any other termination or severance obligations and any other compensation or obligation which may be due by statute, contract or Law relating to the employment in respect of the Business of the Employees.

"<u>Employees</u>" means all individuals, as of the date hereof, whether or not actively at work as of the date hereof, who are employed by Sellers in connection with the Business, together with individuals who are hired in respect of the Business after the date hereof and prior to the Closing.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

"Excluded Assets" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.

"Excluded Contracts" means all Contracts other than Purchased Contracts.

"Excluded Liabilities" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.

#### Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 14 of 99

"Expense Reimbursement" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1.

"<u>Final Order</u>" means an Order, judgment, or other decree of the Bankruptcy Court that has not been vacated, reversed, modified, amended, or stayed, and for which the time to further appeal or seek review or rehearing has expired with no appeal, review or rehearing having been filed or sought.

"<u>Furniture and Equipment</u>" means all furniture, fixtures, furnishings, equipment, vehicles, leasehold improvements, and other tangible personal property owned or leased by Sellers in the conduct of the Business, including all artwork, desks, chairs, tables, computer and computer-related hardware (including, computers, file servers, facsimile servers, scanners, printers, and networks), copiers, telephone lines and numbers, telecopy machines and other telecommunication equipment, cubicles, cash registers, point-of-sale equipment, warehouse equipment, and miscellaneous office furnishings and supplies.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States.

"<u>Governmental Body</u>" means any government or governmental or regulatory body thereof, or political subdivision thereof, whether foreign, federal, state, or local, or any agency, instrumentality or authority thereof, or any court or arbitrator (public or private).

"Indebtedness" of any Person means, without duplication, (i) the principal and interest of, and premium (if any) in respect of, (A) indebtedness of such Person for money borrowed and (B) indebtedness evidenced by notes, debentures, bonds or other similar instruments for the payment of which such Person is responsible or liable; (ii) all obligations of such Person issued or assumed as the deferred purchase price of property, all conditional sale obligations of such Person and all obligations of such Person under any title retention agreement (but excluding trade accounts payable and other accrued liabilities arising in the Ordinary Course of Business); (iii) all obligations of such Person under leases required to be capitalized in accordance with GAAP; (iv) all obligations of such Person for the reimbursement of any obligor on any letter of credit, banker's acceptance or similar credit transaction; (v) all obligations of the type referred to in clauses (i) through (iv) of other Persons for the payment of which such Person is responsible or liable, directly or indirectly, as obligor, guarantor or otherwise, including guarantees of such obligations; and (vi) all obligations of the type referred to in clauses (i) through (v) of other Persons.

## "Initial Minimum Overbid" means Three Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$300,000).

"Intellectual Property" means all worldwide intellectual property rights used or useful by Sellers in connection with the Purchased Assets, including all (i) patents, patent applications and inventions, (ii) trademarks, service marks, trade names and trade dress, which expressly includes the goodwill and any common law rights associated with the foregoing, (iii) domain names, (iv) copyrights, including copyrights in computer software, (v) confidential and proprietary information, including trade secrets and know-how ("Trade Secrets"), (vi) licenses relating to any of the foregoing and (vi) registrations and applications for registration of the foregoing.

#### Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 15 of 99

"<u>Inventory</u>" means all of Sellers' now owned or hereafter acquired inventory and goods, wherever located, relating to the Business including, without limitation, all inventory and goods that (a) are leased by any Seller as lessor, (b) are held by such Seller for sale or lease or to be furnished under a Contract of service, (c) are furnished by any Seller under a Contract of service, or (d) consist of raw materials, work in process, finished goods or material used or consumed in connection with the Business.

"<u>Knowledge</u>" means, with respect to Sellers, as to a particular matter, the actual knowledge as of the date of inquiry or verification, and without independent verification or investigation, of the Chief Restructuring Officer of Sellers.

"<u>Law</u>" means any federal, state, local or foreign law, statute, code, ordinance, rule or regulation or Order.

"<u>Legal Proceeding</u>" means any judicial, administrative or arbitral actions, suits, proceedings (public or private) or claims or any proceedings by or before a Governmental Body.

"<u>Lender</u>" means the "Lender," as such term is defined in the DIP Financing and the Loan Agreement.

"<u>Liability</u>" means any debt, liability or obligation (whether direct or indirect, known or unknown, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, liquidated or unliquidated, or due or to become due), and including all costs and expenses relating thereto.

"<u>Lien</u>" means any lien, encumbrance, pledge, mortgage, deed of trust, security interest, claim, lease, option, right of first refusal, easement, servitude, proxy, voting trust or agreement, or transfer restriction under any shareholder or similar agreement or encumbrance; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that Assumed Liabilities which pertain to particular Purchased Assets shall not constitute Liens.

"<u>Loan Agreement</u>" means that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of July 6, 2011, by and among Sellers, the guarantors named therein and Suchman, LLC, as successor-in-interest to Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as the same may be amended, restated, modified or supplemented from time to time.

"<u>Material Adverse Effect</u>" means (i) a material adverse effect on the business, assets, results of operations or financial condition of Sellers (taken as a whole), the Business or the Purchased Assets (except for the Bankruptcy Cases), or (ii) a material adverse effect on the ability of Sellers to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or perform their obligations under this Agreement, other than (a) the effect of any change resulting from any action taken by Buyer or its Affiliates with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby or with respect to Sellers, or any effect resulting from the filing of the Bankruptcy Cases; (b) a generally applicable change in applicable Law or GAAP or interpretation thereof; (c) any public announcement of this Agreement; (d) any actions or inactions by Sellers in accordance with this Agreement; (e) changes in conditions generally affecting the industries in which Sellers conduct the Business that do not affect the Business, the Purchased Assets or the Assumed Liabilities in a disproportionate manner when compared to the effect of the same on other Persons engaged in such industries; or (f) general economic, political or financial market conditions.

#### Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 16 of 99

"<u>Order</u>" means any order, injunction, judgment, decree, ruling, writ, assessment or arbitration award of a Governmental Body.

"<u>Ordinary Course of Business</u>" means the ordinary and usual course of normal day-today operations of the Business consistent with the past practice of the Business through the date hereof, subject to any duties and restrictions imposed on Sellers under the Bankruptcy Code.

"Overbid Protection" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1.

"Parties" means Sellers and Buyer.

"<u>Permits</u>" means any approvals, authorizations, consents, licenses, permits or certifications of a Governmental Body.

"Permitted Exceptions" means (i) all defects, exceptions, restrictions, easements, rights of way, encumbrances and Liens reflected in policies of title insurance which have been made available to or are obtained by Buyer and that would not interfere with the use of the Purchased Assets or conduct of the Business in accordance with historical practice; (ii) statutory Liens for current Taxes, assessments or other governmental charges not yet delinquent or, to the extent set forth on <u>Schedule 5.12</u> (as such Schedule may be amended by Sellers from time to time prior to Closing with the consent of Buyer), the amount or validity of which is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings; (iii) mechanics', carriers', workers', repairers' and similar Liens arising or incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business; (iv) zoning, entitlement and other land use and environmental regulations by any Governmental Body provided that such regulations have not been violated; (v) title of a lessor under a capital or operating lease; (vi) the Assumed Liabilities as pertain to particular Purchased Assets; and (vii) such other imperfections in title which would not materially interfere with the use of the Purchased Assets.

"<u>Person</u>" means any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, firm, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, Governmental Body or other entity.

"Personal Property Leases" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.4.

"Petition Date" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

"<u>Prepaids</u>" means, as of a particular date, all deposits with vendors or suppliers, all prepaid expenses, royalties and the like and all claims for refunds and rights of offset of Sellers that relate to the Purchased Assets.

"<u>Products</u>" means any and all products developed, manufactured, procured, marketed or sold by Sellers, whether work in progress or in final form, in connection with the Business.

"Prospective Employees" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.10(a).

"Purchase Price" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.

"Purchased Assets" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.

#### Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 17 of 99

"Purchased Claims" means the claims described in clauses (r), (s) and (t) of Section 2.1.

"<u>Purchased Contracts</u>" means the Contracts set forth on <u>Schedule 1.1(c)</u>, as such Schedule may be amended from time to time in accordance with this Agreement.

"<u>Purchased Intellectual Property</u>" means the Intellectual Property and related Software and Technology of the Sellers relating to the Business, all as set forth on <u>Schedule 1.1(d)</u>.

"<u>Qualified Critical Trade Vendor</u>" means any Critical Trade Vendor that agrees to the terms and conditions set forth in the Critical Trade Vendor Motion; <u>provided</u>, that the Critical Trade Vendor Motion has been approved by Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court.

"Real Property Leases" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.3.

"<u>Rosenthal Agreements</u>" means (a) that certain Factoring Agreement, dated as of September 24, 2013, by and between Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. "(<u>Rosenthal</u>") and Apparel and (b) that certain Factoring Agreement, dated as of September 24, 2013, by and between Rosenthal and Direct, in each case, as the same may be amended, restated, modified or supplemented from time to time, and all documents, agreements and certificates entered into and/or delivered in connection therewith.

"<u>Sale Procedures Motion</u>" means the motion or motions of Sellers, in form and substance acceptable to Buyer and Sellers, to be filed with the Bankruptcy Court seeking approval and entry of the Sale Procedures Order, and, in the event that Buyer is the winning bidder at the Auction or no Competing Bid is submitted, the Sale Order.

"Sale Order" means an Order of the Bankruptcy Court, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B or as otherwise approved by Buyer in its sole and absolute discretion, approving this Agreement and all of the terms and conditions hereof, approving the sale and assignment to Buyer of all of the Purchased Assets (assuming that either Buyer is the winning bidder at the Auction contemplated hereby or no Competing Bid is submitted for the Purchased Assets by the deadline for such bids set forth in the Bid Procedures Order), and approving and authorizing Sellers to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, such order shall find and provide, among other things, that (i) the Purchased Assets sold to Buyer pursuant to this Agreement shall be transferred to Buyer free and clear of all Liens (other than Liens specifically assumed or created by Buyer and Permitted Exceptions), claims (other than Assumed Liabilities), encumbrances and interests (including Liens, claims, encumbrances and interests of any Governmental Body), such Liens, claims, encumbrances and interests to attach to the proceeds of sale of the Purchased Assets, (ii) the Purchased Contracts may be assumed by Sellers and assigned to Buyer under Section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, (iii) Buyer has acted in "good faith" within the meaning of Section 363(m) of the Bankruptcy Code, (iv) this Agreement was negotiated, proposed and entered into by the Parties without collusion, in good faith and from arm's length bargaining positions, (v) the Bankruptcy Court shall retain jurisdiction to resolve any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the breach hereof as provided in Section 12.2 hereof, and (vi) this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby are binding upon, and not subject to rejection or avoidance by, any chapter 7 or chapter 11 trustee of Sellers.

"<u>Sale Procedures Order</u>" means an Order of the Bankruptcy Court, in substantially the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit A</u>, approving the bid procedures with respect to the Auction, the Expense Reimbursement and the Initial Minimum Overbid, and providing that if no qualified Competing Bid is received by the bid deadline established in accordance with the Auction, Buyer's bid shall be determined to be the winning bid for the Purchased Assets.

"Sellers" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Seller Documents" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1.

"<u>Software</u>" means, except to the extent generally available for purchase from third Persons, any and all (i) computer programs, including any and all software implementations of algorithms, models and methodologies, whether in source code or object code, (ii) databases and compilations, including any and all data and collections of data, whether machine readable or otherwise, (iii) descriptions, flow-charts and other work product used to design, plan, organize and develop any of the foregoing, screens, user interfaces, report formats, firmware, development tools, templates, menus, buttons and icons and (iv) all documentation including user manuals and other training documentation related to any of the foregoing, in each case, relating to the Business.

"Stayed Tax Liens" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.12(d).

"<u>Tax Return</u>" means all returns, declarations, reports, estimates, information returns and statements required to be filed in respect of any Taxes.

"<u>Taxes</u>" means (i) all federal, state, local or foreign taxes, charges or other assessments, including, without limitation, all net income, gross receipts, capital, sales, use, ad valorem, value added, transfer, franchise, profits, Inventory, capital stock, license, withholding, payroll, employment, social security, unemployment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, property and estimated taxes, and (ii) all interest, penalties, fines, additions to tax or additional amounts imposed by any taxing authority in connection with any item described in clause (i).

"<u>Technology</u>" means, collectively, all designs, formulae, algorithms, procedures, methods, techniques, ideas, know-how, research and development, technical data, programs, subroutines, tools, materials, specifications, processes, inventions (whether patentable or unpatentable and whether or not reduced to practice), apparatus, creations, improvements, works of authorship and other similar materials, and all recordings, graphs, drawings, reports, analyses, and other writings, and other tangible embodiments of the foregoing, in any form whether or not specifically listed herein, and all related technology, that are used in, incorporated in, embodied in, displayed by or relate to, or are used or useful in the Business or in the design, development, reproduction, maintenance or modification of, any of the Products.

"Termination Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(d).

"<u>Trade Secrets</u>" has the meaning set forth in <u>Section 1.1</u> (in the definition of Intellectual Property).

#### Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 19 of 99

"<u>Transfer Taxes</u>" means sales, use, stamp, documentary stamp, recording, transfer or similar fees or Taxes or governmental charges (including any interest, fine, penalty, additions to Tax or additional amount thereon) payable in connection with the Sellers' transfer of the Purchased Assets to Buyer pursuant to this Agreement.

"Transferred Employees" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.10(b).

"<u>WARN Act</u>" means the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988, as amended, and any similar state Law related thereto.

## Section 1.2 Other Definitional and Interpretive Matters.

(a) Unless otherwise expressly provided, for purposes of this Agreement, the following rules of interpretation shall apply:

<u>Calculation of Time Period</u>. When calculating the period of time before which, within which or following which any act is to be done or step taken pursuant to this Agreement, the date that is the reference date in calculating such period shall be excluded. If the last day of such period is a non-Business Day, the period in question shall end on the next succeeding Business Day.

Dollars. Any reference in this Agreement to \$ shall mean U.S. dollars.

<u>Exhibits/Schedules</u>. The Exhibits and Schedules to this Agreement are hereby incorporated and made a part hereof and are an integral part of this Agreement. All Exhibits and Schedules annexed hereto or referred to herein are hereby incorporated in and made a part of this Agreement as if set forth in full herein. Any matter or item disclosed on one Schedule shall not be deemed to have been disclosed on any other Schedule unless explicitly cross-referenced thereto. Any capitalized terms used in any Schedule or Exhibit but not otherwise defined therein shall be defined as set forth in this Agreement.

<u>Gender and Number</u>. Any reference in this Agreement to gender shall include all genders, and words imparting the singular number only shall include the plural and vice versa.

<u>Headings</u>. The provision of a Table of Contents, the division of this Agreement into Articles, Sections and other subdivisions and the insertion of headings are for convenience of reference only and shall not affect or be utilized in construing or interpreting this Agreement. All references in this Agreement to any "Section" are to the corresponding Section of this Agreement unless otherwise specified.

<u>Herein</u>. The words such as "<u>herein</u>," "<u>hereinafter</u>," "<u>hereof</u>," and "<u>hereunder</u>" refer to this Agreement as a whole and not merely to a subdivision in which such words appear unless the context otherwise requires.

<u>Including</u>. The word "<u>including</u>" or any variation thereof means "<u>including</u>, <u>without limitation</u>" and shall not be construed to limit any general statement that it follows to the specific or similar items or matters immediately following it.

#### Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 20 of 99

(b) The Parties hereto have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement and, in the event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as jointly drafted by the Parties hereto and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any Party by virtue of the authorship of any provision of this Agreement.

## ARTICLE II PURCHASE AND SALE OF ASSETS; ASSUMPTION OF LIABILITIES

Section 2.1 <u>Purchase and Sale of Assets</u>. On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Closing Buyer shall purchase, acquire and accept from Sellers, and Sellers shall sell, transfer, assign, convey and deliver to Buyer the Purchased Assets. "<u>Purchased Assets</u>" shall mean all of Sellers' right, title and interest in, to and under the following assets of Sellers (but excluding Excluded Assets) as of the Closing related to the Business:

(a) all accounts receivable of Sellers related to the Business including, without limitation, any accounts receivable arising out of or in connection with any Excluded Contract or Excluded Asset;

(b) all cash, cash equivalents, bank deposits and similar cash items of Sellers, other than the Cash Payment;

(c) all Inventory;

(d) all deposits (including, without limitation, all customer deposits and security deposits for rent, electricity, telephone or otherwise, but excluding customer and security deposits relating to stores subject to Real Property Leases that are Excluded Assets) and other prepaid charges and expenses of Sellers;

(e) subject to the provisions of <u>Section 9.1(g)</u>, all rights of Sellers under each Real Property Lease set forth on <u>Schedule 1.1(c)</u>, together with Sellers' interests in and to all improvements and fixtures under each such Real Property Lease, and other appurtenances thereto, and Sellers' rights in respect thereof;

- (f) all Furniture and Equipment;
- (g) all Purchased Intellectual Property;
- (h) all Purchased Contracts;

(i) all Sellers' Documents that are used in, held for use in or intended to be used in, or that arise out of, the Business, including Documents relating to accounts receivable, Products, services, marketing, advertising, promotional materials, Purchased Intellectual Property and all files, customer lists, files and documents (including credit information), supplier lists, records, literature and correspondence, whether or not physically located on any of the premises referred to in clause (e) above, excluding any Documents exclusively related to any Excluded Assets;

- (j) all Permits used by Sellers in the Business, to the extent transferable;
- (k) all supplies owned by Sellers and used in connection with the Business;

(1) to the extent transferable, all insurance policies or rights to proceeds thereof relating to the Purchased Assets (other than any directors and officers or fiduciary insurance policy, each of which shall be an Excluded Asset);

(m) all rights of Sellers under non-disclosure or confidentiality, non-compete, or non-solicitation agreements with Employees and agents of Sellers or with third parties to the extent relating to the Business or the Purchased Assets (or any portion thereof);

(n) all rights of Sellers under or pursuant to all warranties, representations and guarantees made by suppliers, manufacturers and contractors if and to the extent that such rights are assignable by operation of Law and relating to Products sold, or services provided, to Sellers or to the extent affecting any Purchased Assets other than any warranties, representations and guarantees pertaining exclusively to any Excluded Assets;

(o) all goodwill and other intangible assets associated with the Business, including customer and supplier lists and the goodwill associated with the Purchased Intellectual Property owned by Sellers;

(p) all Prepaids;

(q) any cash refunds for Taxes received by Sellers after the Closing Date (inclusive of any interest received thereon, net of any Taxes incurred with respect thereto) with respect to Taxes paid on or prior to the Closing Date;

(r) rights, claims or causes of action of Sellers, including any rights or claims as arise under Chapter 5 of the Bankruptcy Code, against the Critical Trade Vendors;

(s) any rights, claims or causes of action of Sellers against third parties other than Tax authorities relating to the assets, properties, Business or operations of Sellers arising out of events or transfers occurring on or prior to the Closing Date, including any rights or claims as arise under Chapter 5 of the Bankruptcy Code;

(t) any rights, claims or causes of action of Sellers, including any rights or claims as arise under Chapter 5 of the Bankruptcy Code, against officers, directors, employees, members and managers of the Sellers;

(u) to the extent transferable, all Tax credits of Sellers;

(v) to the extent that Buyer determines, in its sole and absolute discretion, to assume any Benefit Plan, any trust or other funding vehicle associated with such Benefit Plan; and

(w) the assets set forth on <u>Schedule 2.1</u>.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Buyer may, from time to time, amend the Purchased Assets so as to include additional assets in its sole and absolute discretion until three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date (except that Buyer may not add as a Purchased Asset anything specifically listed in <u>Section 2.2</u> below as an Excluded Asset, other than Excluded Contracts, and accounts receivable and proceeds relating thereto, and Intellectual Property rights); and <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that no such addition shall result in any adjustment of the Purchase Price. Furthermore, Buyer may, from time to time, amend <u>Schedule 1.1(c)</u> so as to transfer one or more Real Property Leases to <u>Schedule 2.6(c)</u> in its sole and absolute discretion until three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, in which case such Real Property Lease shall be treated in accordance with <u>Section 2.6(c)</u>.

Section 2.2 <u>Excluded Assets</u>. Nothing herein contained shall be deemed to sell, transfer, assign or convey the Excluded Assets to Buyer, and Sellers shall retain all right, title and interest to, in and under the Excluded Assets. "<u>Excluded Assets</u>" shall mean all assets, properties, interests and rights of Sellers other than the Purchased Assets, including without limitation each of the following assets:

(a) all customer and security deposits relating to Real Property Leases that are Excluded Assets;

(b) all Excluded Contracts;

(c) all obligations, Liabilities and Indebtedness, including any note Indebtedness, owed to or by any Seller to or by any Affiliate of any Seller;

(d) any Intellectual Property rights of Sellers other than the Purchased Intellectual Property;

(e) any (i) confidential personnel and medical records pertaining to any Employee; (ii) other books and records that Sellers are required by Law to retain or that Sellers determine are necessary or advisable to retain including, without limitation, Tax Returns, financial statements, and corporate or other entity filings; provided, however, that Buyer shall have, to the extent allowed by applicable Law, the right to make copies of any portions of such retained books and records that relate to the Business or any of the Assets; (iii) minute books, stock or membership interest records and corporate seals; and (iv) documents relating to proposals to acquire the Business by Persons other than Buyer;

(f) [intentionally omitted];

(g) all of Sellers' rights under this Agreement and/or other documents and agreements executed in connection with the transactions provided for herein;

(h) any trust or other funding vehicle associated with any Benefit Plan that is not a Purchased Asset;

- (i) the Assets set forth on <u>Schedule 2.2(i)</u>; and
- (j) any equity interests in any Seller or any subsidiary thereof.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Buyer may, from time to time, exclude additional assets from the Purchased Assets in its sole and absolute discretion until three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that no such exclusion shall result in any adjustment of the Purchase Price.

Section 2.3 Assumption of Liabilities. On and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Buyer shall assume and become responsible for all of the Assumed Liabilities at the Closing. Buyer will not assume or have any responsibility, however, with respect to any other obligation or liability of Sellers not included within the definition of Assumed Liabilities, including, without limitation: (i) Taxes (x) imposed on any Seller for any period or (y) related to the Business or the Purchased Assets for all Tax periods (or portions thereof) ending on or prior to the Closing (except, in each case, as expressly provided below); (ii) any costs or expenses incurred in connection with, or related to, the administration of the Bankruptcy Cases, including, without limitation, any accrued professional fees and expenses of attorneys, accountants, financial advisors and other professional advisors related to the Bankruptcy Cases (except as expressly provided below); (iii) liabilities to the extent relating to the Excluded Assets, including Liabilities relating to Excluded Contracts; (iv) Liabilities and obligations of Sellers under this Agreement; (v) all Liabilities and obligations arising under any Purchased Contract (and all liabilities for any breach, act or omission under any Purchased Contract) arising prior to the Closing other than any Cure Amounts paid in respect thereof pursuant to Section 3.1; (vi) all obligations, Liabilities and Indebtedness, including any note Indebtedness, owed by any Seller to any Affiliate of any Seller; (vii) other than as set forth in Section 2.3(i), any Employee Obligations to any Employee arising out of such Employee's employment by Sellers prior to the Closing; (viii) any Employee Claim of any Employee arising out of such Employee's employment by Sellers prior to the Closing: (ix) other than as set forth in Section 2.3(o), any WARN Act Liabilities; and (x) all other Liabilities and obligations for which Buyer does not expressly assume any liability (collectively, the "Excluded Liabilities"). Buyer's assumption of the Assumed Liabilities shall in no way expand the rights or remedies of third parties against Buyer as compared to the rights and remedies which such parties would have had against Sellers had this Agreement not been consummated. From and after the Closing Date, Buyer shall pay, perform and discharge, as and when due or as may otherwise be agreed between Buyer and the obligee, all of the Assumed Liabilities. The "Assumed Liabilities" are specifically as follows:

(a) all Liabilities of Sellers set forth on <u>Schedule 2.3(a)</u>;

(b) all Cure Amounts required to be paid in respect of the Purchased

Contracts;

(c) all Liabilities under the Purchased Contracts arising after the Closing;

(d) all Liabilities arising from the sale of Products after the Closing pursuant to product warranties, product returns, rebates and otherwise;

(e) all Liabilities with respect to the Business or the Purchased Assets arising after the Closing;

(f) all allowed pre-petition Liabilities to Qualified Critical Trade Vendors to the extent that such Liabilities have not previously been paid by Sellers;

(g) all undisputed post-petition Liabilities to Critical Trade Vendors that have not agreed to the terms and conditions set forth in the Critical Trade Vendor Motion to the extent that such Liabilities have not previously been paid by Sellers;

(h) all Liabilities under Sellers' gift cards relating to the Purchased Assets;

(i) all Liabilities associated with (i) Employee vacation and sick leave accruals with respect to Transferred Employees and (ii) severance benefits, determined in accordance with Sellers' severance policy as set forth on <u>Schedule 5.13</u>, for any Employee who is not a Transferred Employee, in each case only to the extent that any such Liability is an allowed administrative claim in the Bankruptcy Cases;

(j) the Rosenthal Agreements and all Liabilities of Sellers thereunder;

(k) all real property Taxes to the extent required for Buyer to assume any Real Property Lease that is a Purchased Contract;

(l) [intentionally omitted];

(m) subject to <u>Section 12.8</u>, all Liabilities relating to amounts required to be paid by Buyer hereunder;

(n) Transfer Taxes; and

all WARN Act Liabilities incurred by Sellers on or after the Closing Date (0)to the extent that such Liabilities directly and solely result from Buyer's failure to offer employment to a sufficient number of Employees to avoid incurring such Liabilities (by way of example, in the event that Sellers would incur WARN Act Liabilities based on the termination of 50 Employees at a single employment site, (i) if Sellers terminate one Employee prior to or after the Closing Date and Buyer terminates 49 Employees on or after the Closing Date, any WARN Act Liabilities that arise (based on the termination of 50 Employees at a single employment site) shall not have directly and solely resulted from Buyer's failure to offer employment to a sufficient number of Employees to avoid incurring such Liabilities, and such Liabilities will not be Assumed Liabilities under this Agreement, (ii) if Sellers terminate zero Employees prior to or after the Closing Date and Buyer terminates 50 Employees on or after the Closing Date, any WARN Act Liabilities that arise shall have directly and solely resulted from Buyer's failure to offer employment to a sufficient number of Employees and Buyer shall assume all WARN Act Liabilities associated with such 50 Employees, and (iii) if Sellers terminate 10 Employees prior to or after the Closing Date and Buyer terminates 50 Employees on or after the Closing Date, any WARN Act Liabilities that arise shall have directly and solely resulted from Buyer's failure to offer employment to a sufficient number of Employees and Buyer shall assume all WARN Act Liabilities associated with the 50 (not 60) Employees terminated by Buyer); provided, that Sellers shall have taken all appropriate action to contest such Liabilities, if any, before the applicable Governmental Body.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Buyer may, from time to time, amend <u>Schedule 2.3(a)</u> so as to assume additional Liabilities of Sellers in its sole and absolute discretion until three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date. Such additional Liabilities shall be Assumed Liabilities for all purposes hereunder.

Section 2.4 <u>Purchased Assets</u>. Subject to the provisions of <u>Section 2.6(c)</u> regarding the post-Closing time frame and procedure for assumption or rejection of Real Property Leases, at Closing, and pursuant to Section 363 and Section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, Sellers shall sell or assume and assign to Buyer and Buyer shall buy or take an assignment from Sellers, as the case may be, the Purchased Assets and Assumed Liabilities.

## Section 2.5 Further Conveyances and Assumptions.

(a) From time to time following the Closing, Sellers and Buyer shall, and shall cause their respective Affiliates to, execute, acknowledge and deliver all such further conveyances, notices, assumptions, releases and acquaintances and such other instruments, and shall take such further actions, as may be reasonably necessary or appropriate to assure fully to Buyer and its respective successors or assigns, all of the properties, rights, titles, interests, estates, remedies, powers and privileges intended to be conveyed to Buyer under this Agreement and the Seller Documents (including, without limitation, the Residual Amounts) and to assure fully to Sellers and their respective Affiliates and their respective successors and assigns, the assumption of the liabilities and obligations intended to be assumed by Buyer under this Agreement and the Seller Documents, and to otherwise make effective the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.

(b) If following the Closing, the Sellers receive or become aware that they hold any property, right, claim, demand or asset which constitutes a Purchased Asset then the Sellers shall transfer such property, right, claim, demand or asset to the Buyer as promptly as practicable for no additional consideration.

(c) If following the Closing, the Buyer receives or becomes aware that it holds any property, right, claim, demand or asset which constitutes an Excluded Asset, then the Buyer shall transfer such property, right, claim, demand or asset to the Sellers as promptly as practicable for no additional consideration.

# Section 2.6 <u>Transitional Matters</u>.

(a) From and after Closing, Sellers shall retain full right and authority to use, enforce, pursue remedies and take actions with respect to any of the Excluded Assets and Excluded Liabilities.

(b) Buyer will retain and make available to Sellers, for a period of six (6) years following the Closing Date (or longer if reasonably requested), the Documents delivered by Sellers to Buyer, if reasonably needed by Sellers for liquidation, winding up, Tax reporting or other proper purposes; provided, that Sellers will use reasonable efforts to retain copies of Documents and the Parties otherwise will reasonably cooperate to minimize inconvenience to Buyer.

#### Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 26 of 99

Real Property Leases. Sellers agree that from the date of this Agreement (c)through the date that is one hundred and twenty (120) days after the Closing Date, or such other date mutually agreed to by Buyer and Sellers, provided, that in no event shall such date exceed two hundred and ten (210) days after the Petition Date, Sellers will provide Buyer, at Buyer's expense, with the rights and benefits under the Real Property Leases set forth on Schedule 2.6(c). Buyer's access to and use of the real property subject to the Real Property Leases set forth on Schedule 2.6(c) will be subject to and consistent with the Sellers' obligations, if any, to third parties with respect to such Real Property Leases; and Buyer will perform such obligations as required and shall assume all liability for any damage or destruction to the real property as a result of such access and use. In addition to the Purchase Price, Buyer shall promptly pay the reasonable and actual incremental costs or administrative claims incurred by Sellers as a result of providing such rights and benefits to Buyer or due to the deferral of the decision to reject such unexpired leases in order to provide such use or access, a good faith estimate of which incremental costs shall be set forth in Schedule 2.6(c), and shall name Sellers as an additional insured on any insurance policy (including liability and casualty policies) covering such real property. Sellers shall, upon the written request of Buyer, promptly make a motion in the Bankruptcy Cases to assume and assign to Buyer any Real Property Lease listed on Schedule 2.6(c) and any such Real Property Lease shall be deemed to be a Purchased Contract. The Cure Amounts, as determined by the Bankruptcy Court, if any, necessary to cure all defaults, if any, and to pay all actual or pecuniary losses that have resulted from any defaults under those Real Property Leases set forth on Schedule 2.6(c) to be assumed and assigned to Buyer shall be paid by Buyer, and Sellers shall have no liability therefor or thereafter. Buyer shall provide Sellers with not less than fifteen (15) days' prior written notice specifying the date that it will no longer require such rights and benefits with respect to any Real Property Lease set forth on Schedule 2.6(c) and Buyer shall have no further obligation with respect to such incremental costs or administrative claims after the later of such termination date or the last day of the payment period in which such termination date occurs and any such Real Property Lease shall be deemed an Excluded Contract.

Section 2.7 <u>Bulk Sales Laws</u>. Buyer hereby acknowledges that it has no objection to Sellers not complying with the requirements and provisions of any "bulk-transfer" Laws of any jurisdiction that may otherwise be applicable with respect to the sale of any or all of the Purchased Assets to Buyer.

#### ARTICLE III CONSIDERATION

Section 3.1 <u>Purchase Price; Assumed Liabilities</u>. In consideration of the transfer of the Purchased Assets to Buyer and the other undertakings set forth herein, the purchase price (the "<u>Purchase Price</u>") for the Purchased Assets shall be (i) Twelve Million Dollars (\$12,000,000.00) to be satisfied in the form of a credit against the amount of Sellers' debt under the DIP Financing and the Loan Agreement pursuant to Section 363(k) of the Bankruptcy Code, plus (ii) the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities by Buyer at Closing. The Cure Amounts, as determined by the Bankruptcy Court, if any, necessary to cure all defaults, if any, and to pay all actual or pecuniary losses that have resulted from such defaults under the Purchased Contracts assumed at Closing, shall be paid by Buyer on the Closing Date, and Sellers shall have no liability therefor. The Lender shall make such credit bid. In accordance with the provisions of <u>Section 12.8</u>, it is

understood and agreed that Lender, in its capacity as Buyer, may assign the right to receive the Purchased Assets and all other rights of Buyer hereunder, and the obligation to assume the Assumed Liabilities, to one of more of its designees. In consideration of such assignment, such designee(s) shall be required to issue to the Lender certain equity securities and debt.

## ARTICLE IV CLOSING AND TERMINATION

Section 4.1 <u>Closing Date</u>. Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in <u>Section 9.1</u>, <u>Section 9.2</u> and <u>Section 9.3</u> hereof (or the waiver thereof by the Party entitled to waive that condition), the closing of the purchase and sale of the Purchased Assets and the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities provided for in <u>Article II</u> hereof (the "<u>Closing</u>") shall take place at the offices of Venable LLP (or at such other place as the Parties may designate in writing) as soon as practicable following the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in <u>Article IX</u> (other than conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of such conditions) and no later than a date that is three (3) Business Days after the Sale Order becomes a Final Order, unless extended by Buyer. The date on which the Closing shall be held is referred to in this Agreement as the "<u>Closing Date</u>," and the Closing shall be deemed effective at the close of business on the Closing Date.

Section 4.2 <u>Deliveries by Sellers</u>. At the Closing, Sellers shall deliver to Buyer:

(a) a duly executed bill of sale and assignment;

(b) duly executed assignments of the U.S. trademark registrations and applications included in the Purchased Intellectual Property, in a form suitable for recording in the U.S. trademark office, and general assignments of all other Purchased Intellectual Property;

(c) the officer's certificate required to be delivered pursuant to <u>Section 9.1(a)</u> and <u>Section 9.1(b)</u>; and

(d) all other instruments of conveyance and transfer, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Buyer, as may be necessary to convey the Purchased Assets to Buyer.

Section 4.3 <u>Deliveries by Buyer</u>. At the Closing, Buyer shall deliver to Sellers:

(a) the officer's certificate required to be delivered pursuant to <u>Section 9.2(a)</u> and <u>Section 9.2(b)</u>; and

(b) all other instruments of conveyance and transfer, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Sellers, as may be necessary to convey the Purchased Assets to Buyer and for Buyer to assume the Assumed Liabilities.

Section 4.4 <u>Termination of Agreement</u>. This Agreement may be terminated prior to the Closing as follows:

(a) by mutual written consent of Sellers and Buyer;

#### Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 28 of 99

(b) by Sellers or Buyer, as applicable, if any of the conditions set forth in <u>Section 9.3</u> shall have become incapable of fulfillment other than as a result of a breach by the Sellers or Buyer, as applicable, of any covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement, and such condition is not waived by the non-breaching party;

(c) by Sellers or Buyer if there shall be in effect a final Order or other nonappealable final action of a Governmental Body of competent jurisdiction permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby; it being agreed that the Parties hereto shall promptly appeal any adverse determination which is not nonappealable (and pursue such appeal with reasonable diligence);

(d) by Buyer, if the Closing shall not have occurred on or before the close of business on the date which is seven (7) Business Days after the Sale Order becomes a Final Order or such later date as determined by Buyer (the "<u>Termination Date</u>"); <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that if the Closing shall not have occurred on or before the Termination Date and either (a) such failure to close is due to (1) a material breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement by Buyer or (2) a breach by Buyer of the obligations set forth in <u>Section 8.2</u> hereof, or (b) (1) Sellers have not materially breached any representation, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement and (2) Sellers have not breached the obligations set forth in <u>Section 8.2</u> hereof, then Buyer may not terminate this Agreement pursuant to this <u>Section 4.4(d)</u>;

(e) by Buyer, if any of the conditions to the obligations of Buyer set forth in <u>Section 9.1</u> shall have become incapable of fulfillment other than as a result of a breach by Buyer of any covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement, and such condition is not waived by Buyer;

(f) by Buyer, if there shall be a material breach by Sellers of any representation or warranty, or any covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement which would result in a failure of a condition set forth in <u>Section 9.1</u> or <u>Section 9.3</u> and which breach cannot be cured or has not been cured by the earlier of (i) ten (10) Business Days after the giving of written notice by Buyer to Sellers of such breach and (ii) the Termination Date;

(g) by Buyer in the event the Petition Date has not occurred within three (3) Business Days after the date hereof, or in the event the Bankruptcy Court has not entered (i) the Bid Procedures Order on or before thirty (30) days following the Petition Date and (ii) the Sale Order on or before ninety (90) days after the Petition Date;

(h) by Buyer or Sellers, if the Closing has not occurred by May 31, 2014; provided that if a party is in breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement, then such party shall not be entitled to terminate pursuant to this <u>Section 4.4(h)</u>;

(i) by Sellers, if any condition to the obligations of Sellers set forth in <u>Section 9.2</u> shall have become incapable of fulfillment other than as a result of a breach by Sellers of any covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement, and such condition is not waived by Sellers;

(j) by Sellers, if there shall be a material breach by Buyer of any representation or warranty, or any covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement which would result in a failure of a condition set forth in <u>Section 9.2</u> or <u>Section 9.3</u> and which breach cannot be cured or has not been cured by the earlier of (i) ten (10) Business Days after the giving of written notice by Sellers to Buyer of such breach and (ii) the Termination Date;

(k) by Sellers, if the Closing shall not have occurred on or before the Termination Date; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that if the Closing shall not have occurred on or before the Termination Date and either (a) such failure to close is due to (1) a material breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement by Sellers or (2) a breach by Sellers of the obligations set forth in <u>Section 8.2</u> hereof, or (b) (1) Buyer has not materially breached any representation, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement and (2) Buyer has not breached the obligations set forth in <u>Section 8.2</u> hereof, then Sellers may not terminate this Agreement pursuant to this <u>Section 4.4(k)</u>; or

(1) with no further action by either Party, if the Bankruptcy Court shall enter an Order approving a Competing Bid and the transaction contemplated by such Competing Bid is thereafter consummated.

Procedure Upon Termination. In the event of termination and Section 4.5 abandonment by Buyer or Sellers, or both such Parties, pursuant to Section 4.4 hereof, written notice thereof shall forthwith be given to the other Party or Parties, and this Agreement shall terminate, and the purchase of the Purchased Assets hereunder shall be abandoned, without further action by Buyer or Sellers. If this Agreement is terminated as provided herein each Party shall return all documents, work papers and other material of any other Party relating to the transactions contemplated hereby, whether so obtained before or after the execution hereof, to the Party furnishing the same. If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Sections 4.4(a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (f), (g), (h) (as to Section 4.4(h), only if Buyer is not in breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement), or (1), Sellers shall pay (i) all reasonable fees, costs and expenses incurred by Buyer in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement through the Petition Date, plus (ii) the Expense Reimbursement to Buyer, and the Parties shall have no further obligations to one another except for any obligations that, by their terms, survive the termination of this Agreement, as described in Section 4.6(a).

# Section 4.6 Effect of Termination.

(a) In the event that this Agreement is validly terminated in accordance with <u>Section 4.4</u>, this Agreement shall terminate and each of the Parties shall be relieved of its respective duties and obligations arising under this Agreement after the date of such termination and such termination shall be without liability to Buyer or Sellers; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that this <u>Section 4.6</u> and the obligations of the Parties set forth in <u>Section 4.5</u>, <u>Section 8.3</u>, <u>Section 8.5</u> and <u>Article XII</u> hereof shall survive any such termination and shall be enforceable hereunder; and <u>provided further</u>, <u>however</u>, no termination shall relieve any party from liability for its breach or non performance of its obligations hereunder prior to the date of such termination.

#### Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 30 of 99

(b) <u>Remedies</u>. All remedies hereunder are cumulative and are not exclusive of any other remedies provided by Law.

#### ARTICLE V REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLERS

Sellers hereby jointly and severally represent and warrant to Buyer that:

Section 5.1 Authorization of Agreement. Subject to the entry of the Sale Order: (a) each Seller has all requisite power, authority and legal capacity to execute and deliver this Agreement and each Seller has all requisite power, authority and legal capacity to execute and deliver each other agreement, document, instrument or certificate contemplated by this Agreement or to be executed by any Seller in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the "Seller Documents"), to perform their respective obligations hereunder and thereunder and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby; and (b) this Agreement has been, and each of the Seller Documents will be at or prior to the Closing, duly and validly executed and delivered by each Seller and (assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the other Parties hereto and thereto and the entry of the Sale Order) this Agreement constitutes, and each of the Seller Documents when so executed and delivered will constitute, legal, valid and binding obligations of each Seller, enforceable against each Seller in accordance with their respective terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar laws affecting creditors' rights and remedies generally, and subject, as to enforceability, to general principles of equity, including principles of commercial reasonableness, good faith and fair dealing (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding at law or in equity).

Section 5.2 <u>Title to Purchased Assets</u>. Other than the real property subject to the Real Property Leases and the personal property subject to the Personal Property Leases, Sellers have good title to the Purchased Assets and, at the Closing, the Buyer, pursuant to the Sale Order, shall acquire good title in, to and under (subject to the Purchased Contracts (other than Purchased Contracts assumed or assigned post-Closing) being assumed and assigned in accordance with <u>Section 2.1</u>) all of such Purchased Assets, in each case free and clear of all Liens, other than Permitted Exceptions, to the fullest extent permissible under Section 363(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. The Purchased Assets include all of the properties and assets required to operate, in all material respects, the Business in the Ordinary Course of Business. For the sake of clarity, the right to use any assets included in the Purchased Assets in which Sellers have leasehold or non-ownership rights to use shall be assigned to Buyer only through the assumption and assignment of the Purchased Contracts in accordance with and subject to this Agreement.

Section 5.3 <u>Real Property</u>. <u>Schedule 5.3</u> sets forth a complete list of all real property and interests in real property leased by Sellers (individually, a "<u>Real Property Lease</u>" and collectively, the "<u>Real Property Leases</u>") as lessee or lessor in connection with the Business and which are part of the Purchased Assets. Sellers have a valid and enforceable leasehold interest under each Real Property Lease under which it is a lessee.

Section 5.4 <u>Tangible Personal Property</u>. <u>Schedule 1.1(a)</u> sets forth all leases of personal property ("<u>Personal Property Leases</u>") relating to personal property used by Sellers or to

which any Seller is a party or by which the properties or assets of any Seller are bound, in each case relating to the Business. Each Seller has a valid and enforceable leasehold interest under each Personal Property Lease under which it is a lessee.

Section 5.5 <u>Intellectual Property</u>. <u>Schedule 1.1(a)</u> sets forth an accurate and complete list of all Intellectual Property. To Sellers' Knowledge, Sellers own all right, title and interest to, or are licensees with respect to, the Purchased Intellectual Property, and can convey such property free and clear of Liens pursuant to the Sale Order. To the Knowledge of Sellers, (i) no Person is engaging in any activity that infringes any Purchased Intellectual Property and (ii) no claim has been asserted to any Seller that the use of any Purchased Intellectual Property or the operation of the Business infringes or violates the Intellectual Property of any third party. The Purchased Intellectual Property and the rights under the Purchased Contracts include the rights to use all Intellectual Property required to operate the Business as currently conducted.

Section 5.6 <u>Financial Advisors</u>. No Person has acted, directly or indirectly, as a broker, finder or financial advisor for Sellers in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and no Person is entitled to any fee or commission or like payment from Buyer or Sellers in respect thereof, other than Innovation Capital, LLC.

Section 5.7 <u>Litigation</u>. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 5.7</u> and other than in connection with the Bankruptcy Cases, there is no suit, action, litigation, arbitration proceeding or governmental proceeding or audit, including appeals and applications for review, in progress, pending or, to the Sellers' Knowledge, threatened against or relating to any Seller or any judgment, decree, injunction, deficiency, rule or order of any court, governmental department, commission, agency, instrumentality or arbitrator which, in any case, is reasonably likely to adversely affect the ability of any Seller to enter into this Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and Sellers have no Knowledge of any existing ground on which any such action, suit or proceeding may be commenced with any reasonable likelihood of success.

Section 5.8 <u>Compliance with Laws</u>. Sellers have conducted and are presently conducting the Business in compliance with all applicable Laws, except where such non-compliance would not result in a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.9 <u>Permits</u>. Sellers are in compliance with the material terms of all such Permits, and all such Permits are valid and in full force and effect, and no proceeding is pending or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened, the object of which is to revoke, limit or otherwise affect any such Permit.

# Section 5.10 Inventory.

(a) No Inventory is materially damaged in any significant way, including, but not limited, to damage caused by water, except for any such damage which would not have a Material Adverse Effect on the Inventory taken as a whole;

(b) To Sellers' Knowledge, the Inventory has not been part of a current or past product recall; and

(c) The Inventory is in material compliance with United States federal guidelines for such products as of the date hereof, except for such compliance failure which would not have a Material Adverse Effect on the Inventory taken as a whole.

Section 5.11 <u>Contracts</u>. The Purchased Contracts include all Contracts material to the ownership and/or operation of the Business. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 5.7</u>, Sellers have not, and, to Sellers' Knowledge, no other party to any Purchased Contract has, commenced any action against any of the parties to any Purchased Contract or given or received any written notice of any default or violation under any Purchased Contract that has not been withdrawn or dismissed except to the extent such default or violation will be cured as a result of the payment of the applicable Cure Amounts. Each Purchased Contract is, or will be upon the Closing and payment of the applicable Cure Amounts, valid, binding and in full force and effect in accordance with its terms.

Section 5.12 Taxes.

(a) All income Tax Returns required to have been filed by Sellers for each of the Sellers' tax years ended through December 31, 2012 have been filed, and all income Tax Returns required to have been filed by Sellers for the Sellers' tax year ended December 31, 2013 are on extension;

(b) Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 5.12</u>:

(i) To the Knowledge of the Sellers, no federal or state income Tax Return audits are pending with respect to any Seller;

(ii) No Seller has received written notice from any Governmental Body of future federal or state income Tax Return audits;

(iii) There are no material liens with respect to Taxes upon any of the Purchased Assets, other than (A) Permitted Exceptions and (B) Liens that may arise to the extent payment of such Taxes is stayed as a result of the Bankruptcy Cases ("<u>Stayed Tax Liens</u>"); and

(iv) No Seller has (A) waived any statute of limitations in respect of any Tax Returns that have not been filed as of the date hereof or (B) agreed to any extension of time with respect to the assessment of Taxes for which such Taxes have not been paid as of the date hereof, in each case other than pursuant to extensions of time to file Tax Returns obtained in the ordinary course of business.

# Section 5.13 Employee Benefits.

(a) <u>Schedule 5.13</u> sets forth all "employee benefit plans", as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, and all other material employee benefit arrangements, employment agreements or payroll practices maintained by Sellers or to which Sellers contribute or are obligated to contribute thereunder for Employees (the "<u>Benefit Plans</u>"). Neither Sellers nor any of their affiliates and any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) which is or has ever been under common control, or which is or has ever been treated as a single employer, with any of them under Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code has in the last six years contributed or

#### Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 33 of 99

has been obligated to contribute to any "employee pension plans", as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA, subject to Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code, including a "multiemployer plan", as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA. None of the Seller Plans provide for post-employment life or health insurance, benefits or coverage for any participant or any beneficiary of a participant, except as may be required under the Consolidate Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended, ("<u>COBRA</u>") and at the expense of the participant or the participant's beneficiary.

(b) True, correct and complete copies of the following documents, with respect to each of the Benefit Plans, have been made available or delivered to Buyer by Sellers, to the extent applicable: (i) any plans, all amendments thereto and related trust documents, and amendments thereto; (ii) the most recent Forms 5500 and all schedules thereto; (iii) the most recent IRS determination letter; (iv) the most recent summary plan descriptions; (v) written communications to employees relating to the Benefit Plans; and (vi) written descriptions of all non-written agreements relating to the Benefit Plans.

(c) The Benefit Plans have been maintained, in all material respects, in accordance with their terms and with all provisions of ERISA, the Code and other applicable federal and state laws and all contributions required to have been made under any of the Benefit Plans to any funds or trusts established thereunder or in connection therewith have been made, in all material respects, by the due date thereof (including any valid extension).

# Section 5.14 Labor Matters.

(a) Other than as set forth on <u>Schedule 5.14(a)</u>, (i) no Seller is a party to any labor or collective bargaining agreement with respect to its Employees, (ii) no Employee of any Seller is represented by any labor organization, (iii) no labor organization or group of Employees of any Seller has made a pending demand for recognition or request for certification, (iv) and there are no representation or certification proceedings or petitions seeking a representation election presently pending or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened, to be brought or filed with the National Labor Relations Board or other labor relations tribunal involving any Seller.

(b) There are no strikes, lockouts, work stoppages or slowdowns pending or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened against or involving any Seller.

(c) Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 5.7</u>, there are no unfair labor practice charges, arbitrations, grievances or complaints pending or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened in writing against any Seller relating to the employment or termination of employment of any individual by any Seller except those which, individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(d) Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 5.7</u>, there are no complaints, charges, administrative proceedings or claims against any Seller pending or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened in writing to be brought or filed with any Governmental Body based on or arising out of the employment by any Seller of any Employee except those which, individually or in the aggregate would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(e) [Intentionally Omitted].

(f) The employment of each Employee of Sellers is at-will. Schedule 5.14(f) lists all written (and includes a summary of all legally binding oral) employment and consulting agreements to which any Seller is a party or by which it is bound. Complete and correct copies of the agreements or arrangements listed and summarized on Schedule 5.14(f) have been provided or made available to Buyer.

Section 5.15 <u>Sellers' Representations and Warranties Generally</u>. Sellers' representations and warranties herein (including as made or qualified in the Schedules hereto) are made by Sellers in their respective corporate or limited liability company capacity, without personal liability to Sellers' directors, officers, members or counsel, or Sellers' signatory, other than with respect to fraudulent or criminal activity with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby.

## ARTICLE VI REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER

Buyer hereby represents and warrants to Sellers that:

Section 6.1 <u>Organization and Good Standing</u>. Buyer is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of New Jersey.

Section 6.2 Authorization of Agreement. Buyer has full limited liability company power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and each other agreement, document, instrument or certificate contemplated by this Agreement or to be executed by Buyer in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby (the "Buyer Documents"), and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution, delivery and performance by Buyer of this Agreement and each Buyer Document have been duly authorized by all necessary action on behalf of Buyer. This Agreement has been, and each Buyer Document will be at or prior to the Closing, duly executed and delivered by Buyer, and (assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties hereto and thereto) this Agreement constitutes, and each Buyer Document when so executed and delivered will constitute, legal, valid and binding obligations of Buyer, enforceable against Buyer, in accordance with their respective terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar laws affecting creditors' rights and remedies generally, and subject, as to enforceability, to general principles of equity, including principles of commercial reasonableness, good faith and fair dealing (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding at law or in equity).

Section 6.3 <u>Financial Advisors</u>. No Person has acted, directly or indirectly, as a broker, finder or financial advisor for Buyer in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and no person is entitled to any fee or commission or like payment in respect thereof.

Section 6.4 <u>Litigation</u>. There is no suit, action, litigation, arbitration proceeding or governmental proceeding or audit, including appeals and applications for review, in progress, pending or, to the best of Buyer's knowledge, threatened against or relating to Buyer or any judgment, decree, injunction, deficiency, rule or order of any court, governmental department,

commission, agency, instrumentality or arbitrator which, in any case, is reasonably likely to adversely affect the ability of Buyer to enter into this Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and Buyer is not aware of any existing ground on which any such action, suit or proceeding may be commenced with any reasonable likelihood of success.

Section 6.5 <u>Financial Capability</u>. Buyer (i) has, or has firm commitments for, as of the date hereof, and will have as of the Closing, sufficient funds to pay the Purchase Price and the Cure Amounts, assume the Assumed Liabilities, and pay any expenses incurred by Buyer in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (ii) has, as of the date hereof, and will have as of the Closing, the resources and capabilities (financial or otherwise) to perform its obligations hereunder and (iii) has not, as of the date hereof, and will not have as of the Closing, incurred any obligation, commitment, restriction or Liability of any kind which would impair or is reasonably likely to adversely affect such resources and capabilities.

Section 6.6 <u>Condition of the Business</u>. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary, Buyer acknowledges and agrees that Sellers and each of their directors, officers, employees, agents, shareholders, Affiliates, consultants, counsel, accountants and other representatives are not making any representation or warranty whatsoever, express or implied, beyond those expressly given by Sellers in <u>Article V</u> hereof (as modified by the Schedules hereto), and Buyer acknowledges and agrees that, except for the representations and warranties contained therein, the Purchased Assets and the Business are being transferred on a "WHERE IS" and, as to condition, "AS IS" basis.

# ARTICLE VII BANKRUPTCY COURT APPROVAL

Approval of Expense Reimbursement and Overbid Protection. Prior to the Section 7.1 Petition Date, Sellers shall pay all reasonable fees, costs and expenses incurred by Buyer in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement through the Petition Date. Subject to the entry of the Bid Procedures Order, in consideration for Buyer having expended considerable time and expense in connection with this Agreement and the negotiation thereof and the identification and quantification of assets of Sellers, Sellers shall pay to Buyer promptly upon the effective date of termination of this Agreement in accordance with, and only to the extent provided in, Section 4.5 hereof Buyer's reasonable fees, costs and expenses (including, without limitation, consultants' and attorneys' reasonable fees, costs and expenses) incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement from and after the Petition Date through the date of termination, provided that the amount of such expense reimbursement does not exceed Two Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (\$200,000.00) (the "Expense Reimbursement"). In addition, the Bid Procedures Order shall provide for an Initial Minimum Overbid over and above the aggregate of the Purchase Price and the Expense Reimbursement, and minimum bid increments thereafter of One Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (\$100,000.00) (the "Overbid Protection"), and Buyer shall have the ability to credit bid at the Auction the amount of the Expense Reimbursement.

## Section 7.2 Competing Transaction.

This Agreement is subject to approval by the Bankruptcy Court and the (a) consideration by Sellers of higher or better competing bids (each a "Competing Bid"). From the date hereof (and any prior time) and until the completion of the Auction or as otherwise directed by the Bankruptcy Court, Sellers are permitted to cause their representatives and Affiliates to initiate contact with, solicit or encourage submission of any inquiries, proposals or offers by, any Person (in addition to Buyer and its Affiliates, agents and representatives) in connection with any sale or other disposition of the Purchased Assets. In addition, Sellers shall be permitted to respond to any inquiries or offers to purchase all or any part of the Purchased Assets (each, an "Alternative Proposal"), provided that such Person enters into a non-disclosure agreement in favor of Sellers, and perform any and all other acts related thereto which are required under the Bankruptcy Code or other applicable law, including supplying information relating to the Business and the assets of Sellers to prospective buyers. No later than two Business Days prior to the Auction, Sellers shall provide to Buyer a copy of any such Alternative Proposal and any written response of Sellers thereto and regularly update Buyer as to the status of any negotiations therewith.

(b) Following completion of the Auction, Sellers are not permitted to cause their representatives and Affiliates to initiate contact with, solicit or encourage submission of any inquiries, proposals or offers by, any Person (in addition to Buyer and its agents and representatives) in connection with any sale or other disposition of the Purchased Assets. In addition, unless otherwise directed by the Bankruptcy Court, Sellers shall not after completion of the Auction respond to any Alternative Proposal or perform any other acts related thereto, including supplying information relating to the Business and the assets of Sellers to prospective buyers of the Purchased Assets.

Section 7.3 <u>Bankruptcy Court Filings</u>. Sellers shall use commercially reasonable efforts (A) to file the Sale and Bid Procedures Motion with the Bankruptcy Court on the Petition Date, and (B) to seek entry of the Bid Procedures Order and the Sale Order. Buyer agrees that it will promptly take such actions as are reasonably requested by Sellers to assist in obtaining entry of the Bid Procedures Order and the Sale Order, including furnishing affidavits or other documents or information for filing with the Bankruptcy Court for the purposes, among others, of demonstrating that Buyer is a "good faith" Buyer under Section 363(m) of the Bankruptcy Code. In the event the entry of the Bid Procedures Order and the Sale Order shall be appealed, Sellers shall use commercially reasonable efforts to defend such appeal.

#### ARTICLE VIII COVENANTS

Section 8.1 <u>Access to Information</u>. Sellers agree that, prior to the Closing Date, Buyer shall be entitled, through their respective officers, employees and representatives (including their respective legal advisors and accountants), to make such investigation of the properties, businesses and operations of the Business and such examination of the books, records and financial condition of the Business, the Purchased Assets and the Assumed Liabilities as they reasonably request and to make extracts and copies of such books and records. Any such investigation and examination shall be conducted during regular business hours upon reasonable

advance written notice and under reasonable circumstances and shall be subject to restrictions under applicable Law. Sellers shall cause their respective officers, employees, consultants, agents, accountants, attorneys and other representatives to cooperate with Buyer and Buyer's representatives in connection with such investigation and examination, and Buyer and its representatives shall cooperate with Sellers and their respective representatives and shall use their reasonable efforts to minimize any disruption to the Business.

Section 8.2 <u>Further Assurances</u>. Each of Sellers and Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to (a) take all actions necessary or appropriate to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement on or prior to the Termination Date and (b) cause the fulfillment at the earliest practicable date of all of the conditions to their respective obligations to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

#### Section 8.3 Confidentiality.

(a) Buyer acknowledges that the confidential information provided to them in connection with this Agreement, including under <u>Section 8.1</u>, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, is subject to the terms and conditions of that certain confidentiality provision set forth in Section 9.19 of the DIP Financing.

Following the completion of the Auction, Sellers agree to maintain, and (b) shall cause their respective Affiliates to maintain, unless disclosure is required by applicable Law, the confidentiality of any confidential information regarding the Business which is in Sellers' or any of their respective Affiliate's possession or of which Sellers or any of their respective Affiliates are aware. Sellers hereby further agree, unless disclosure is required by applicable Law, to take all appropriate steps, consistent with Sellers' past practice, and to cause each of their respective Affiliates to take all appropriate steps, consistent with Sellers' past practice, to safeguard such confidential information and to protect it against disclosure, misuse, espionage, loss and theft. In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, Sellers shall not, and shall cause their respective Affiliates not to, unless required by applicable Law, disclose to any Person (a) any confidential information regarding the Business, provided, that confidential information shall not include information that becomes generally available to the public other than as a result of the breach of this Section 8.3(b) or information not otherwise known by the Sellers that becomes available to any Seller from a Person other than Buyer, or (b) any of the discussions or negotiations conducted with Buyer in connection with this Agreement, provided, that Sellers shall be entitled to disclose (i) any information required to be disclosed by Sellers to the Bankruptcy Court, the United States Trustee, parties in interest in the Bankruptcy Cases, other Persons bidding on assets of Sellers, (ii) any information required to be disclosed by Sellers pursuant to any applicable Law (including, without limitation, the Bankruptcy Code), Legal Proceeding or Governmental Authority, or (iii) any information to Sellers' counsel and financial advisor; provided, that, in each case, such disclosure shall be limited to the information that is so required to be disclosed and the Person(s) to whom such disclosure is required. Notwithstanding anything in this Section 8.3 to the contrary, unless disclosure is required by applicable Law, the confidentiality of any Trade Secrets of the Business shall be maintained for so long as such Trade Secrets continue to be entitled to protection as Trade Secrets of the Business.

Section 8.4 Preservation of Records. Sellers (or any subsequently appointed bankruptcy estate representative, including, but not limited to, a trustee, a creditor trustee or a plan administrator) and Buyer agree that each of them shall preserve and keep the books and records held by it relating to the pre-Closing Business for a period of six (6) years from the Closing Date and shall make such books and records available to the other parties (and permit such other party to make extracts and copies of such books and records at its own expense) as may be reasonably required by such party in connection with, among other things, any insurance claims by, Legal Proceedings or Tax audits against or governmental investigations of Sellers or Buyer or any of their respective Affiliates or in order to enable Sellers or Buyer to comply with their respective obligations under this Agreement and each other agreement, document or instrument contemplated hereby or thereby. In the event Sellers, on the one hand, or Buyer, on the other hand, wish to destroy such records during such six (6) year period, such Party shall first give twenty (20) days' prior written notice to the other and such other Party shall have the right at its option and expense, upon prior written notice given to such Party within that twenty (20) day period, to take possession of the records within thirty (30) days after the date of such notice.

Section 8.5 <u>Publicity</u>. Neither Sellers, on the one hand, nor Buyer, on the other hand, shall issue any press release or public announcement concerning this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby without obtaining the prior written approval of the other Parties hereto, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, unless, in the sole judgment of Buyer or Sellers, disclosure is otherwise required by applicable Law or with respect to filings to be made with the Bankruptcy Court in connection with this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties may publicly disclose the existence of this Agreement.

Section 8.6 Operation of Business. Until the Closing, Sellers shall use commercially reasonable efforts, except as otherwise required, authorized or restricted pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code or an Order of the Bankruptcy Court, to operate the Business in the Ordinary Course of Business (among other things, Sellers will not incur unreasonable liabilities, including, without limitation, inappropriate increases in Inventory or factoring of accounts receivable). Sellers shall use commercially reasonable efforts to (A) preserve intact their respective business organizations, (B) maintain the Business and the Purchased Assets (normal wear and tear excepted), (C) keep available the services of their respective officers and Employees, (D) maintain satisfactory relationships with licensors, licensees, suppliers, contractors, distributors, consultants, customers and others having business relationships with Sellers in connection with the operation of the Business (other than payment of pre-petition claims), (E) pay all of their respective post-petition obligations in the Ordinary Course of Business, and (F) continue to operate the Business in all material respects in compliance with all Laws applicable to the Business and Sellers. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, and except (i) as otherwise expressly provided in or contemplated by this Agreement, or (ii) required, authorized or restricted pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code or an Order of the Bankruptcy Court, on or prior to the Closing Date, Sellers may not, without the prior written consent of Buyer, take any of the following actions with respect to the Business:

(a) modify in any manner the compensation of any of the Employees or officers, or accelerate the payment of any such compensation (other than in the Ordinary Course

#### Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 39 of 99

of Business or such that the liability associated with such modification is excluded from the Assumed Liabilities);

(b) engage any new Employee other than in the Ordinary Course of Business, <u>provided</u>, however, that Sellers shall not engage any new Employee whose aggregate annual compensation exceeds \$50,000;

(c) remove or permit to be removed from any building, facility, or real property any Asset or any Inventory (other than in connection with the sale of Inventory in the Ordinary Course of Business and the sale of fixtures, equipment and related assets in connection with the closing of stores in an amount not to exceed \$250,000);

(d) sell, lease or otherwise dispose of, mortgage, hypothecate or otherwise encumber any Asset (other than sales of Inventory in the Ordinary Course of Business and other than any Liens provided for in the DIP Order);

(e) amend, terminate or renew any Contract other than in the Ordinary Course of Business; <u>provided</u>, that any such amendment, termination or renewal shall not increase the term of any such Contract by more than one (1) year or result in an increase in the obligation of any Seller thereunder in excess of \$50,000;

(f) fail to pay any required filing, processing or other fee, or fail to use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain the validity of Sellers' rights in, to or under any Purchased Intellectual Property;

(g) fail to use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain all Permits of Sellers, including those used in the operation of the Business;

(h) make any unusual or extraordinary efforts to collect any outstanding accounts receivable or intercompany obligation, liability or Indebtedness, give any discounts or concessions for early payment of such accounts receivable or intercompany obligation, liability or Indebtedness, other than the usual discounts given by the Business in the Ordinary Course of Business and make any sales of, or, other than Liens provided for in the DIP Order, convey any interest in, any accounts receivable or intercompany obligation, liability or Indebtedness to any third party;

(i) other than transactions pursuant to agreements or arrangements in effect on the Petition Date as set forth on <u>Schedule 8.6(i)</u>, engage in any transaction with any Affiliate, subsidiary, shareholder, officer or director of any Seller (other than in the Ordinary Course of Business), incur or assume any long term or short term debt with or on behalf of any such Person or guarantee, endorse or otherwise be liable or responsible (whether directly, indirectly, contingently or otherwise) for the obligations of any such Person;

(j) other than as set forth in <u>Section 8.6(a)</u>, increase the salaries or other compensation payable to any of Sellers' directors, officers or Employees;

(k) make any change in their method of accounting, except in accordance with GAAP;

(1) other than with respect to a Competing Bid, enter into any Contract that would survive the Closing (other than in the Ordinary Course of Business and provided that the term of such Contract does not exceeds one (1) year and that such Contract does not create an obligation of any Seller in excess of \$50,000);

(m) return Inventory with an aggregate value of more than \$25,000 to any single vendor;

(n) fail to maintain any insurance policy in effect on the date hereof or amend any such policy other than extensions in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(o) accelerate the payment of any obligation, Liability or Indebtedness of any Seller; and

(p) agree, whether in writing or otherwise, to do any of the foregoing.

Section 8.7 Section 363(b)(1)(A). Buyer shall honor and observe any and all policies of Sellers in effect on the Petition Date prohibiting the transfer of personally identifiable information about individuals and otherwise comply with the requirements of Section 363(b)(1)(A) of the Bankruptcy Code.

Section 8.8 <u>Adequate Assurances Regarding Purchased Contracts and Certain Real</u> <u>Property Leases</u>. With respect to each Purchased Contract and Real Property Lease set forth on <u>Schedule 1.1(c)</u>, Buyer shall provide adequate assurance of the future performance of such Purchased Contract and Real Property Lease by Buyer as required by Sections 365(b)(1)(C) and/or 365(f)(2)(B) of the Bankruptcy Code, as applicable.

Section 8.9 <u>Material Adverse Effect</u>. Sellers shall promptly inform Buyer in writing of the occurrence of any event that has had, or is reasonably expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect.

# Section 8.10 Employee Matters.

(a) Sellers shall reasonably assist Buyer to engage, in Buyer's sole and absolute discretion, the services of Sellers' (i) store associates and other store staff, (ii) district managers, and (iii) regional managers, in each case currently engaged in staffing the Business ("<u>Prospective Employees</u>"), on terms and conditions satisfactory to Buyer and such Prospective Employees. Buyer shall be provided access to, and be allowed to communicate with, such Prospective Employees. Sellers shall not, and shall not attempt to, engage or transfer the services of any of the Prospective Employees to any other business operated by Sellers or their successors; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that in the event Buyer engages and then later terminates the services of any Prospective Employee, Sellers may later re-engage the services of such individuals.

(b) Buyer shall, in consultation with Sellers, identify the names of the Prospective Employees whose services it wishes to engage at least five (5) days prior to the Closing Date. Such individuals who accept such offer or otherwise continue employment with Buyer are hereinafter referred to as the "<u>Transferred Employees</u>." Nothing herein shall obligate

#### Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 41 of 99

Buyer to employ any Transferred Employee for any particular length of time following the Closing Date.

(c) Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 2.3(a)</u>, Sellers shall, subject to restrictions imposed by the Bankruptcy Code, as such may be modified by order of the Bankruptcy Court, be responsible for payment of all compensation due to Employees with respect to the period prior to the Closing Date, including, but not limited to any unpaid wages, salary, unused vacation or sick leave earned and accrued (to the extent not paid), health benefits, severance, WARN Act Liability (other than as set forth in <u>Section 2.3(p)</u>), or change of control obligations; <u>provided</u>, that Buyer shall be responsible for all Liabilities set forth in <u>Section 2.3(i)</u> in accordance with the terms and provisions thereof.

Section 8.11 [Intentionally omitted].

Section 8.12 <u>Stayed Tax Liens</u>. Prior to the Closing, Sellers shall notify Buyer within three (3) Business Days after any Stayed Tax Lien arises.

Section 8.13 <u>Cooperation</u>. Sellers, on the one hand, and Buyer, on the other hand, will provide each other with such cooperation and information as either of them may reasonably request of the other in connection with filing any Tax Return, amended Tax Return or claim for refund, determining a liability for Taxes or a right to a refund of Taxes, or participating in or conducting any audit or other proceeding in respect of Taxes (such cooperation and information shall include providing copies of relevant Tax Returns or portions thereof, together with accompanying schedules, related work papers and documents relating to rulings and other determinations by Tax authorities). In addition, Buyer shall make available to Sellers, without charge to Sellers, such office space and employee support reasonably necessary to assist Sellers to wind up Sellers' operations following the Closing, resolve the Bankruptcy Cases, dissolve any or all of the Sellers and prepare and file the Tax Returns. Any information obtained under this <u>Section 8.12</u> shall be kept confidential except as may be otherwise necessary in connection with the filing of Tax Returns or claims for refund or in conducting any audit or other proceeding.

Section 8.14 [Intentionally omitted].

Section 8.15 <u>Purchased Claims</u>. Buyer hereby covenants that it will not commence or file with any local, state or federal agency, court or arbitrator any complaints, charges, claims, lawsuits or grievances, or actions of any kind, whether civil, criminal or administrative, with respect to any Purchased Claim consisting of rights or claims as arise under Chapter 5 of the Bankruptcy Code.

#### ARTICLE IX CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

Section 9.1 <u>Conditions Precedent to Obligations of Buyer</u>. The obligation of Buyer to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement is subject to the fulfillment, on or prior to the Closing Date, of each of the following conditions (any or all of which may be waived by Buyer in whole or in part to the extent permitted by applicable Law):

(a) The representations and warranties of Sellers set forth in this Agreement qualified as to materiality shall be true and correct and those not so qualified shall be true and correct in all material respects at and as of the Closing, except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date (in which case such representations and warranties qualified as to materiality shall be true and correct and those not so qualified shall be true and correct in all material respects, on and as of such earlier date); and Buyer shall have received a certificate signed by an authorized officer of each Seller, dated the Closing Date, to the foregoing effect in his or her corporate or limited liability company (not personal) capacity (it being acknowledged and agreed that the signatory to such certificate shall have no personal liability as a result of signing such certificate absent fraud);

(b) Sellers shall have performed and complied in all material respects with all obligations and agreements required in this Agreement to be performed or complied with by them prior to the Closing Date, and Buyer shall have received a certificate signed by an authorized officer of each Seller, dated the Closing Date, to the forgoing effect in his or her corporate or limited liability company (not personal) capacity (it being acknowledged and agreed that the signatory to such certificate shall have no personal liability as a result of signing such certificate absent fraud);

(c) Sellers shall have delivered, or caused to be delivered, to Buyer all of the items set forth in Section 4.2;

(d) Buyer shall have received all Permits necessary or useful for the conduct of the Business (which Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to timely obtain);

(e) From the date hereof through the Closing Date, there shall have been no Material Adverse Effect;

(f) The Purchased Contracts shall be sold and assumed and assigned to Buyer by Order of the Bankruptcy Court satisfactory to Buyer in its sole and absolute discretion, except for any Purchased Contracts to be assumed and assigned after the Closing;

(g) The aggregate Cure Amounts as determined by the Bankruptcy Court shall not be more than 125% (exclusive of "Common Area Maintenance" adjustments for the applicable lease year in which the Closing occurs pursuant to the terms of Real Property Leases that are Purchased Assets) of the aggregate Cure Amounts set forth on <u>Schedule 9.1(g)</u> (which Schedule shall set forth each Purchased Contract and the Cure Amount associated therewith);

(h) The period to challenge or contest the validity, amount, perfection, or priority of the claims of the Lenders under the DIP Financing shall have expired with no such challenge or contest having been asserted, or any such challenge or contest having been resolved to the satisfaction of the Buyer in its sole and absolute discretion;

(i) The Bid Procedures Order shall have become a Final Order (unless this condition shall have been waived in writing by Buyer);

(j) The Sale Order shall have become a Final Order (unless this condition shall have been waived in writing by Buyer); and

#### Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 43 of 99

(k) All consents or similar approvals, if any, required of any Governmental Body to the Closing shall have been received.

Section 9.2 <u>Conditions Precedent to Obligations of Sellers</u>. The obligations of Sellers to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are subject to the fulfillment, prior to or on the Closing Date, of each of the following conditions (any or all of which may be waived by Sellers in whole or in part to the extent permitted by applicable Law):

(a) The representations and warranties of Buyer set forth in this Agreement qualified as to materiality shall be true and correct, and those not so qualified shall be true and correct in all material respects, at and as of the Closing, except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date (in which case such representations and warranties qualified as to materially shall be true and correct, and those not so qualified shall be true and correct in all material respects, on and as of such earlier date); and Sellers shall have received a certificate signed by an authorized officer of Buyer, dated the Closing Date, to the foregoing effect in his or her corporate or limited liability company (not personal) capacity (it being acknowledged and agreed that the signatory to such certificate shall have no personal liability as a result of signing such certificate absent fraud);

(b) Buyer shall have performed and complied in all material respects with all obligations and agreements required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by Buyer on or prior to the Closing Date; and Sellers shall have received a certificate signed by an authorized officer of Buyer, dated the Closing Date, to the foregoing effect in his or her corporate or limited liability (not personal) capacity (it being acknowledged and agreed that the signatory to such certificate shall have no personal liability as a result of signing such certificate absent fraud);

(c) To the extent that Buyer determines, in its sole and absolute discretion, to assign its rights, interests and obligations hereunder to one or more of its designees, such designee(s) shall deliver to Sellers the certificates required to be delivered pursuant to <u>Section 9.2(a)</u> and <u>Section 9.2(b)</u> hereof, certifying to such matters with respect to itself or themselves;

(d) Buyer shall have delivered, or caused to be delivered, to Sellers the Purchase Price; and

stay.

(e) the Sale Order shall have been entered and be effective, not subject to any

Section 9.3 <u>Condition Precedent to Obligations of Buyer and Sellers</u>. The respective obligations of Buyer and Sellers to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are subject to the fulfillment, on or prior to the Closing Date, of the following conditions (which may be waived by Buyer and Sellers in whole or in part to the extent permitted by applicable Law):

(a) there shall not be in effect any Order by a Governmental Body of competent jurisdiction restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 9.4 <u>Frustration of Closing Conditions</u>. Neither Sellers nor Buyer may rely on the failure of any condition set forth in <u>Section 9.1</u>, <u>Section 9.2</u> or <u>Section 9.3</u>, as the case may be, if such failure was caused by such Party's breach of this Agreement.

#### ARTICLE X <u>NO SURVIVAL</u>

Section 10.1 <u>No Survival of Representations and Warranties</u>. The Parties hereto agree that the representations and warranties contained in this Agreement shall not survive the Closing hereunder, and none of the Parties shall have any liability to each other after the Closing for any breach thereof. The Parties hereto agree that the covenants contained in this Agreement to be performed after the Closing shall survive the Closing hereunder, and each Party hereto shall be liable to the other after the Closing for any breach thereof.

## ARTICLE XI TAX MATTERS

Section 11.1 <u>Transfer Taxes</u>. Buyer shall be responsible for all Transfer Taxes.

Section 11.2 <u>Purchase Price Allocation</u>. Within sixty (60) days after the Closing Date, Buyer and Sellers will agree to a certificate of allocation detailing the allocation of the Purchase Price and Assumed Liabilities among the Purchased Assets. Buyer and Sellers will treat Sellers' transfer of the Purchased Assets to Buyer as an exchange governed by Section 1001 and Section 1060 of the Code and, in accordance with such treatment, will each file an Internal Revenue Service Form 8594 "Asset Acquisition Statement under Section 1.1060-1" at the times and in the manner as required by Treasury Regulation 1060-1 consistent with the certificate of allocation. The certificate of allocation will be conclusive and binding on the Parties for all purposes, including reporting and disclosure requirements under the Code and any foreign, state, or local Tax authority, except as provided by a change in applicable Tax Law or the good faith resolution of a Tax contest.

Section 11.3 <u>Audits, Claims and Proceedings</u>. Sellers shall have the right to control the conduct of the defense of any audit, claim, proceeding, investigation, or other controversy relating to Taxes ("<u>Tax Claim</u>") of Sellers for any taxable period ending on or prior to, or including, the Closing Date; provided, however, that Sellers will not have the right to settle any such Tax Claim if the resolution or determination of such Tax Claim is reasonably likely to materially adversely affect Buyer without first obtaining Buyer's written consent, such consent to not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

## ARTICLE XII MISCELLANEOUS

Section 12.1 <u>Expenses</u>. Except for the Expense Reimbursement that may be owed by Sellers to Buyer pursuant to <u>Section 4.5</u>, if any, each of Sellers and Buyer shall bear their own fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with the negotiation and execution of this Agreement and each other agreement, document and instrument contemplated by this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby; <u>provided</u>, that prior

to the Petition Date, Sellers shall pay all reasonable fees, costs and expenses incurred by Buyer in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement through the Petition Date.

#### Section 12.2 Submission to Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process.

Without limiting any Party's right to appeal any order of the Bankruptcy (a) Court, (i) the Bankruptcy Court shall retain exclusive jurisdiction to enforce the terms of this Agreement and to decide any claims or disputes which may arise or result from, or be connected with, this Agreement, any breach or default hereunder, or the transactions contemplated hereby, and (ii) any and all proceedings related to the foregoing shall be filed and maintained only in the Bankruptcy Court, and the parties hereby consent to and submit to the jurisdiction and venue of the Bankruptcy Court and shall receive notices at such locations as indicated in Section 12.6 hereof; provided, however, that if the Bankruptcy Cases have not been commenced or have been closed, the Parties agree to unconditionally and irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey or the courts of the State of New Jersey and any appellate court thereof, for the resolution of any such claim or dispute. The Parties hereby irrevocably waive, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any objection which they may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such dispute brought in such court or any defense of inconvenient forum for the maintenance of such dispute. Each of the Parties hereto agrees that a judgment in any such dispute may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by Law.

(b) Each of the Parties hereto hereby consents to process being served by any Party to this Agreement in any suit, action or proceeding by delivery of a copy thereof in accordance with the provisions of <u>Section 12.7</u>.

Section 12.3 <u>Waiver of Right to Trial by Jury</u>. Each Party to this Agreement waives any right to trial by jury in any action, matter or proceeding regarding this Agreement or any provision hereof.

Section 12.4 Entire Agreement; Amendments and Waivers. This Agreement (including the Schedules and Exhibits hereto) represents the entire understanding and agreement between the Parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof. Additionally, this Agreement amends, restates and supersedes in its entirety the Original Purchase Agreement. This Agreement can be amended, supplemented or changed, and any provision hereof can be waived, only by written instrument making specific reference to this Agreement signed by the Party against whom enforcement of any such amendment, supplement, modification or waiver is sought or, if such amendment, supplement, modification or waiver can be so construed, by both Parties. No action taken pursuant to this Agreement, including any investigation by or on behalf of any Party, shall be deemed to constitute a waiver by the Party taking such action of compliance with any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained herein. The waiver by any Party hereto of a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a further or continuing waiver of such breach or as a waiver of any other or subsequent breach. No failure on the part of any Party to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right, power or remedy hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of such right, power or remedy by such Party preclude any other or further

#### Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 46 of 99

exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or remedy. All remedies hereunder are cumulative and are not exclusive of any other remedies provided by law.

Section 12.5 <u>Governing Law</u>. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New Jersey applicable to contracts made and performed in the State of New Jersey.

Section 12.6 <u>Notices</u>. All notices and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed given (i) when delivered personally by hand (with written confirmation of receipt), (ii) when sent by facsimile (with written confirmation of transmission) or electronic mail (and no notice of failure of delivery was received within a reasonable time after such message was sent) or (iii) one Business Day following the day sent by overnight courier (with written confirmation of receipt), in each case at the following addresses, facsimile numbers and e-mail addresses (or to such other address, facsimile number or e-mail address as a Party may have specified by notice given to the other Party pursuant to this provision):

If to Sellers, to:

MEE Apparel LLC and MEE Direct LLC 501 Tenth Avenue, Floor 7 New York, NY 10018 Attention: Jeff Gregg, CRO Telephone: (917) 262-1000 Email: jeffg@thecollective.com

with a copy to:

Cole, Schotz, Meisel, Forman & Leonard, P.A. 25 Main Street Hackensack, New Jersey 07601 Attention: Michael D. Sirota, Esq. Telephone: (201) 525-6262 Telecopier: (201) 678-6262 Email: msirota@coleschotz.com

If to Buyer, to:

Suchman, LLC 501 Tenth Avenue, Floor 7 New York, NY 10018 501 Tenth Avenue, Floor 7 New York, NY 10018 Attention: Gregg Donnenfeld Telephone: (917) 262-1000 Email: Gregg@thecollective.com with a copy to:

Venable LLP 2049 Century Park East, Suite 2100 Los Angeles, CA 90067 Attention: Ronn S. Davids Telephone: (310) 229-9970 Telecopier: (310) 229-9901 Email: RDavids@venable.com

Each Party entitled to notice may change the address to which notices, requests, demands, claims and other communications hereunder are to be delivered by giving all other Parties notices in the manner herein set forth.

Section 12.7 <u>Severability</u>. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal, or incapable of being enforced by any Law or public policy, all other terms or provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any Party. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal, or incapable of being enforced, the Parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the Parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner in order that the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated as originally contemplated to the greatest extent possible.

Section 12.8 <u>Binding Effect; Assignment</u>. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns, including, without limitation, any chapter 11 trustee hereinafter appointed for Sellers' estates or any trustee appointed in a chapter 7 case if the Bankruptcy Cases are converted from chapter 11. Nothing in this Agreement shall create or be deemed to create any third party beneficiary rights in any person or entity not a party to this Agreement except as provided below. No assignment of this Agreement or of any rights or obligations hereunder may be made by either Sellers, on the one hand, or Buyer, on the other hand (by operation of law or otherwise), without the prior written consent of the other Parties hereto and any attempted assignment without the required consents shall be void; provided, however, that Buyer intends to (and may, without the consent of Sellers) assign its rights, interests, and obligations hereunder to one or more of its designees.

Section 12.9 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts (including by facsimile or electronic mail), each of which will be deemed to be an original copy of this Agreement and all of which, when taken together, will be deemed to constitute one and the same agreement.

[Signature Pages Follow]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized, as of the date first written above.

**SELLERS:** 

MEE APPAREL LLC

Name: Jeffrey L. Gregg Title: Chief Restructuring Officer

MEE DIRECT LLC

By:

By:

Name: Jeffrey L. Gregg Title: Chief Restructuring Officer

**BUYER:** 

SUCHMAN, LLC

By: gent bensztranle Name: Title: MANAGER

Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 50 of 99

# **EXHIBIT B**

#### AMENDED AND RESTATED ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

**BY AND AMONG** 

MEE APPAREL LLC,

#### MEE DIRECT LLC

AND

SUCHMAN, LLC

Dated as of April 2May 30, 2014

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I	DEFIN	NITIONS	1
Section 1	.1	Certain Definitions	1
Section 1	.2	Other Definitional and Interpretive Matters	9
ARTICLE II		HASE AND SALE OF ASSETS; ASSUMPTION ABILITIES	10
Section 2	.1	Purchase and Sale of Assets	10
Section 2	.2	Excluded Assets	12
Section 2	.3	Assumption of Liabilities	13
Section 2	4	Purchased Assets	15
Section 2	.5	Further Conveyances and Assumptions	15
Section 2	.6	Transitional Matters	15
Section 2	.7	Bulk Sales Laws	16
ARTICLE III	CONS	SIDERATION	16
Section 3	5.1	Purchase Price; Assumed Liabilities	16
ARTICLE IV	CLOS	ING AND TERMINATION	17
Section 4	.1	Closing Date	17
Section 4	.2	Deliveries by Sellers	17
Section 4	.3	Deliveries by Buyer	17
Section 4	.4	Termination of Agreement	1 <mark>87</mark>
Section 4	.5	Procedure Upon Termination	19
Section 4	.6	Effect of Termination2	<u>019</u>
ARTICLE V	REPR	ESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLERS	20
Section 5	5.1	Authorization of Agreement	20
Section 5	.2	Title to Purchased Assets	20

	Section	5.3	Real Property	2 <mark>4<u>0</u></mark>
	Section	5.4	Tangible Personal Property	24 <u>0</u>
	Section	5.5	Intellectual Property	21
	Section	5.6	Financial Advisors	21
	Section	5.7	Litigation	21
	Section	5.8	Compliance with Laws	21
	Section	5.9	Permits	21
	Section	5.10	Inventory	2 <mark>2<u>1</u></mark>
	Section	5.11	Contracts	
	Section	5.12	Taxes	
	Section	5.13	Employee Benefits	2 <mark>32</mark>
	Section	5.14	Labor Matters	23
	Section	5.15	Sellers' Representations and Warranties Generally	24
ARTIC	CLE VI	REPR	ESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER	24
	Section	6.1	Organization and Good Standing	24
	Section	6.2	Authorization of Agreement	24
	Section	6.3	Financial Advisors	2 <mark>54</mark>
	Section	6.4	Litigation	2 <mark>54</mark>
	Section	6.5	Financial Capability	25
	Section	6.6	Condition of the Business	25
ARTIC	CLE VII	BANK	RUPTCY COURT APPROVAL	25
	Section P	7.1 rotectior	Approval of Expense Reimbursement and Overbid נו 25	
	Section	7.2	Competing Transaction	
	Section	7.3	Bankruptcy Court Filings	
ARTIC	CLE VIII	COVE	NANTS	2 <mark>7<u>6</u></mark>

Section 8.1	Access to Information	2 <mark>7<u>6</u></mark>
Section 8.2	Further Assurances	27
Section 8.3	Confidentiality	27
Section 8.4	Preservation of Records	
Section 8.5	Publicity	
Section 8.6	Operation of Business	
Section 8.7	Section 363(b)(1)(A)	30
Section 8.8	Adequate Assurances Regarding Purchased Contracts —and Certain Real Property Leases	30
Section 8.9	Material Adverse Effect	30
Section 8.10	Employee Matters	30
Section 8.11	[Intentionally omitted]	31
Section 8.12	Stayed Tax Liens	31
Section 8.13	Cooperation	31
Section 8.14	Schedules[Intentionally omitted]	<u> 31</u>
Section 8.15	Purchased Claims	31
ARTICLE IX CO	ONDITIONS TO CLOSING	3 <mark>2<u>1</u></mark>
Section 9.1	Conditions Precedent to Obligations of Buyer	3 <mark>2<u>1</u></mark>
Section 9.2	Conditions Precedent to Obligations of Sellers	33
Section 9.3	Condition Precedent to Obligations of Buyer and Sellers	34 <u>3</u>
Section 9.4	Frustration of Closing Conditions	34
ARTICLE X NO	) SURVIVAL	34
Section 10.1	No Survival of Representations and Warranties	34
ARTICLE XI TA	X MATTERS	34
Section 11.1	Transfer Taxes	34
Section 11.2	Purchase Price Allocation	34

Section 11.3	Audits, Claims and Proceedings	
ARTICLE XII MISC	ELLANEOUS	
Section 12.1	Expenses	
Section 12.2 Process	Submission to Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of 35	
Section 12.3	Waiver of Right to Trial by Jury	
Section 12.4	Entire Agreement; Amendments and Waivers	
Section 12.5	Governing Law	
Section 12.6	Notices	
Section 12.7	Severability	
Section 12.8	Binding Effect; Assignment	
Section 12.9	Counterparts	

## **EXHIBITS**

Exhibit A	Sale Procedures Order
Exhibit B	Sale Order

# SCHEDULES<sup>4</sup>

Schedule 1.1(a)	Contracts; Leases; Intellectual Property
Schedule 1.1(c)	Purchased Contracts
Schedule 1.1(d)	Purchased Intellectual Property
Schedule 2.1	Additional Purchased Assets
Schedule 2.1(r)	Critical Trade Vendors
Schedule 2.2(j)	Additional Excluded Assets
Schedule 2.3(a)	Assumed Liabilities
Schedule 2.6(c)	Real Property Leases (Transitional)
Schedule 5.3	Assumed Real Property Leases
Schedule 5.7	Litigation
Schedule 5.12	Тах
Schedule 5.13	Employee Benefit Plans
Schedule 5.14(a)	Labor Matters
Schedule 8.6(i)	Affiliate Transactions
Schedule 9.1(g)	Cure Amounts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>—All Schedules to be delivered by Sellers pursuant to <u>Section 8.14</u> of this Agreement.

#### AMENDED AND RESTATED ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

THIS <u>AMENDED AND RESTATED</u> ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT, dated as of <u>April 2 May 30</u>, 2014 (this "<u>Agreement</u>"), is entered into by and among MEE Apparel LLC, a New Jersey limited liability company ("<u>Apparel</u>"), MEE Direct LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("<u>Direct</u>" and, together with Apparel, each a "<u>Seller</u>" and collectively, "<u>Sellers</u>"), and Suchman, LLC ("<u>Buyer</u>").

## <u>WITNESSETH</u>:

WHEREAS, Sellers and Buyer are parties to the DIP Financing and the Loan Agreement;

WHEREAS, promptly after the date hereof, Sellers shall commence<u>commenced</u> cases (the "<u>Bankruptcy Cases</u>") under Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Code (as it may be amended from time to time as applicable to the Bankruptcy Cases, the "<u>Bankruptcy Code</u>") in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of New Jersey (the "<u>Bankruptcy Court</u>") <u>on April 2, 2014</u> (the date of such commencement being referred to as the "Petition Date") and entered into that certain Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of the Petition Date (as amended, restated, modified or supplemented, the "Original Purchase Agreement");

WHEREAS, Sellers shall retain possession of their assets and be authorized under the Bankruptcy Code to continue the operation of their businesses as debtors-inpossession;

WHEREAS, Sellers desire to sell, transfer and assign to Buyer, and Buyer desires to acquire and assume from Sellers, pursuant to Sections 363 and 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, the Purchased Assets and Assumed Liabilities as more specifically provided herein; and

WHEREAS, certain terms used in<u>Sellers and Buyer intend that</u> this Agreement are defined in <u>Section 1.1</u>. amend and restate in its entirety the Original Purchase Agreement as set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and agreements hereinafter contained, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

# ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1 <u>Certain Definitions</u>. For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings specified in this <u>Section 1.1</u>:

"<u>Accounts Receivable</u>" means all accounts, accounts receivable, contract rights to payment, notes, and notes receivable of Sellers related to the Business.

"<u>Affiliate</u>" means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, such Person, and the term "<u>control</u>" (including the terms "<u>controlled by</u>" and "<u>under common control with</u>") means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, whether through ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.

"Alternative Proposal" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2.

"Assets" means collectively, the Purchased Assets and the Excluded Assets.

"Assumed Liabilities" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.

"<u>Auction</u>" has the meaning set forth in the Bid Procedures Order.

"Bankruptcy Cases" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

"Bankruptcy Code" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

"Bankruptcy Court" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

"Benefit Plan" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.13(a).

"<u>Business</u>" means the business and operations of Sellers relating to the wholesale and retail sale of clothing and accessories.

"Business Day" means any day of the year on which national banking institutions in New York are open to the public for conducting business and are not required or authorized to close.

"Buyer" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Buyer Documents" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.2.

"Cash Payment" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.

"<u>Closing</u>" has the meaning set forth in <u>Section 4.1</u>.

"Closing Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.1.

"<u>COBRA</u>" has the meaning set forth in <u>Section 5.13(a)</u>.

"<u>Code</u>" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

"Competing Bid" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2(a).

"<u>Contract</u>" means any contract, indenture, note, bond, lease, Real Property Lease, Personal Property Lease or other agreement (including, without limitation, employment and consulting agreements) to which any Seller is a party, relating to the Business, as set forth on <u>Schedule 1.1(a)</u>.

"<u>Critical Trade Vendors</u>" means those entities, if any, set forth on <u>Schedule 2.1(r)</u> (such schedule to be updated by Buyer in its sole and absolute discretion from time to time until one (1) Business Day prior to the Closing Date; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that no such update shall result in an adjustment of the Purchase Price).

"<u>Critical Vendor Motion</u>" means a critical vendor motion in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer in its sole and absolute discretion.

"<u>Cure Amounts</u>" means any and all amounts required, as a condition to assumption or assignment, to be paid to a non-debtor party to a Purchased Contract pursuant to Section 365(b) of the Bankruptcy Code.

"<u>DIP Financing</u>" means that certain Financing Agreement by and among Sellers and the lender party thereto, dated as of April 2, 2014, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented or modified from time to time.

"<u>DIP Order</u>" means any Order of the Bankruptcy Court relating to the DIP Financing.

"<u>Documents</u>" means all files, documents, instruments, papers, books, reports, records, tapes, microfilms, photographs, letters, budgets, forecasts, ledgers, journals, title policies, customer lists, regulatory filings, operating data and plans, technical documentation (design specifications, functional requirements, operating instructions, logic manuals, flow charts, etc.), user documentation (installation guides, user manuals, training materials, release notes, working papers, etc.), marketing documentation (sales brochures, flyers, pamphlets, web pages, etc.), and other similar materials related to the Business and the Purchased Assets, in each case whether or not in electronic form.

"<u>Employee Claims</u>" means any claim, demand, action, cause of action, damage, loss, cost, Liability or expense, including legal costs, made or brought by any Employee, including, but not limited to, any Employment Claim made pursuant to any applicable Laws relating to employment standards, occupational health and safety, labor relations, workers compensation, pay equity, employment equity, the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act, the Family and Medical Leave Act or the Fair Labor Standards Act or any other federal, state or local, statutory or decisional Law regarding employment discrimination.

"<u>Employee Obligations</u>" means all wages, bonuses, vacation pay, sick time, pension payments, overtime pay, change of control payments, severance pay and any other termination or severance obligations and any other compensation or obligation which may be due by statute, contract or Law relating to the employment in respect of the Business of the Employees.

"<u>Employees</u>" means all individuals, as of the date hereof, whether or not actively at work as of the date hereof, who are employed by Sellers in connection with the Business, together with individuals who are hired in respect of the Business after the date hereof and prior to the Closing.

"<u>ERISA</u>" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

"Excluded Assets" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.

"Excluded Contracts" means all Contracts other than Purchased Contracts.

"Excluded Liabilities" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.

"Expense Reimbursement" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1.

"<u>Final Order</u>" means an Order, judgment, or other decree of the Bankruptcy Court that has not been vacated, reversed, modified, amended, or stayed, and for which the time to further appeal or seek review or rehearing has expired with no appeal, review or rehearing having been filed or sought.

"<u>Furniture and Equipment</u>" means all furniture, fixtures, furnishings, equipment, vehicles, leasehold improvements, and other tangible personal property owned or leased by Sellers in the conduct of the Business, including all artwork, desks, chairs, tables, computer and computer-related hardware (including, computers, file servers, facsimile servers, scanners, printers, and networks), copiers, telephone lines and numbers, telecopy machines and other telecommunication equipment, cubicles, cash registers, point-of-sale equipment, warehouse equipment, and miscellaneous office furnishings and supplies.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States.

"<u>Governmental Body</u>" means any government or governmental or regulatory body thereof, or political subdivision thereof, whether foreign, federal, state, or local, or any agency, instrumentality or authority thereof, or any court or arbitrator (public or private).

"Indebtedness" of any Person means, without duplication, (i) the principal and interest of, and premium (if any) in respect of, (A) indebtedness of such Person for money borrowed and (B) indebtedness evidenced by notes, debentures, bonds or other similar instruments for the payment of which such Person is responsible or liable; (ii) all obligations of such Person issued or assumed as the deferred purchase price of property, all conditional sale obligations of such Person and all obligations of such Person under any title retention agreement (but excluding trade accounts payable and other accrued liabilities arising in the Ordinary Course of Business); (iii) all obligations of such Person under leases required to be capitalized in accordance with GAAP; (iv) all obligations of such Person for the reimbursement of any obligor on any letter of credit, banker's acceptance or similar credit transaction; (v) all obligations of the type referred

to in clauses (i) through (iv) of other Persons for the payment of which such Person is responsible or liable, directly or indirectly, as obligor, guarantor or otherwise, including guarantees of such obligations; and (vi) all obligations of the type referred to in clauses (i) through (v) of other Persons secured by any Lien on any property or asset of such Person (whether or not such obligation is assumed by such Person).

"Initial Minimum Overbid" means Three Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$300,000).

"Intellectual Property" means all worldwide intellectual property rights used or useful by Sellers in connection with the Purchased Assets, including all (i) patents, patent applications and inventions, (ii) trademarks, service marks, trade names and trade dress, which expressly includes the goodwill and any common law rights associated with the foregoing, (iii) domain names, (iv) copyrights, including copyrights in computer software, (v) confidential and proprietary information, including trade secrets and know-how ("<u>Trade Secrets</u>"), (vi) licenses relating to any of the foregoing and (vi) registrations and applications for registration of the foregoing.

"<u>Inventory</u>" means all of Sellers' now owned or hereafter acquired inventory and goods, wherever located, relating to the Business including, without limitation, all inventory and goods that (a) are leased by any Seller as lessor, (b) are held by such Seller for sale or lease or to be furnished under a Contract of service, (c) are furnished by any Seller under a Contract of service, or (d) consist of raw materials, work in process, finished goods or material used or consumed in connection with the Business.

"<u>Knowledge</u>" means, with respect to Sellers, as to a particular matter, the actual knowledge as of the date of inquiry or verification, and without independent verification or investigation, of the Chief Restructuring Officer of Sellers.

"<u>Law</u>" means any federal, state, local or foreign law, statute, code, ordinance, rule or regulation or Order.

"<u>Legal Proceeding</u>" means any judicial, administrative or arbitral actions, suits, proceedings (public or private) or claims or any proceedings by or before a Governmental Body.

"<u>Lender</u>" means the "Lender," as such term is defined in the DIP Financing and the Loan Agreement.

"<u>Liability</u>" means any debt, liability or obligation (whether direct or indirect, known or unknown, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, liquidated or unliquidated, or due or to become due), and including all costs and expenses relating thereto.

"<u>Lien</u>" means any lien, encumbrance, pledge, mortgage, deed of trust, security interest, claim, lease, option, right of first refusal, easement, servitude, proxy, voting trust or agreement, or transfer restriction under any shareholder or similar agreement or encumbrance; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that Assumed Liabilities which pertain to particular Purchased Assets shall not constitute Liens.

"<u>Loan Agreement</u>" means that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of July 6, 2011, by and among Sellers, the guarantors named therein and Suchman, LLC, as successor-in-interest to Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as the same may be amended, restated, modified or supplemented from time to time.

"<u>Material Adverse Effect</u>" means (i) a material adverse effect on the business, assets, results of operations or financial condition of Sellers (taken as a whole), the Business or the Purchased Assets (except for the Bankruptcy Cases), or (ii) a material adverse effect on the ability of Sellers to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or perform their obligations under this Agreement, other than (a) the effect of any change resulting from any action taken by Buyer or its Affiliates with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby or with respect to Sellers, or any effect resulting from the filing of the Bankruptcy Cases; (b) a generally applicable change in applicable Law or GAAP or interpretation thereof; (c) any public announcement of this Agreement; (d) any actions or inactions by Sellers in accordance with this Agreement; (e) changes in conditions generally affecting the industries in which Sellers conduct the Business that do not affect the Business, the Purchased Assets or the Assumed Liabilities in a disproportionate manner when compared to the effect of the same on other Persons engaged in such industries; or (f) general economic, political or financial market conditions.

"<u>Order</u>" means any order, injunction, judgment, decree, ruling, writ, assessment or arbitration award of a Governmental Body.

"<u>Ordinary Course of Business</u>" means the ordinary and usual course of normal day-to-day operations of the Business consistent with the past practice of the Business through the date hereof, subject to any duties and restrictions imposed on Sellers under the Bankruptcy Code.

"Overbid Protection" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1.

"Parties" means Sellers and Buyer.

"<u>Permits</u>" means any approvals, authorizations, consents, licenses, permits or certifications of a Governmental Body.

"<u>Permitted Exceptions</u>" means (i) all defects, exceptions, restrictions, easements, rights of way, encumbrances and Liens reflected in policies of title insurance which have been made available to or are obtained by Buyer and that would not interfere with the use of the Purchased Assets or conduct of the Business in accordance with historical practice; (ii) statutory Liens for current Taxes, assessments or other governmental charges not yet delinquent or, to the extent set forth on <u>Schedule 5.12</u> (as such Schedule may be amended by Sellers from time to time prior to Closing with the consent of Buyer), the amount or validity of which is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings; (iii) mechanics', carriers', workers', repairers' and similar Liens arising or incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business; (iv) zoning, entitlement and other land use and environmental regulations by any Governmental Body provided that such

regulations have not been violated; (v) title of a lessor under a capital or operating lease; (vi) the Assumed Liabilities as pertain to particular Purchased Assets; and (vii) such other imperfections in title which would not materially interfere with the use of the Purchased Assets.

"<u>Person</u>" means any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, firm, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, Governmental Body or other entity.

"Personal Property Leases" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.4.

"Petition Date" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

"<u>Prepaids</u>" means, as of a particular date, all deposits with vendors or suppliers, all prepaid expenses, royalties and the like and all claims for refunds and rights of offset of Sellers that relate to the Purchased Assets.

"<u>Products</u>" means any and all products developed, manufactured, procured, marketed or sold by Sellers, whether work in progress or in final form, in connection with the Business.

"Prospective Employees" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.10(a).

"Purchase Price" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.1.

"Purchased Assets" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.

<u>"Purchased Claims" means the claims described in clauses (r), (s) and (t)</u> of Section 2.1.

"<u>Purchased Contracts</u>" means the Contracts set forth on <u>Schedule 1.1(c)</u>, as such Schedule may be amended from time to time in accordance with this Agreement.

"<u>Purchased Intellectual Property</u>" means the Intellectual Property and related Software and Technology of the Sellers relating to the Business, all as set forth on <u>Schedule 1.1(d)</u>.

"<u>Qualified Critical Trade Vendor</u>" means any Critical Trade Vendor that agrees to the terms and conditions set forth in the Critical Trade Vendor Motion; <u>provided</u>, that the Critical Trade Vendor Motion has been approved by Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court.

"Real Property Leases" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.3.

"<u>Rosenthal Agreements</u>" means (a) that certain Factoring Agreement, dated as of September 24, 2013, by and between Rosenthal & Rosenthal, Inc. "(<u>Rosenthal</u>") and Apparel and (b) that certain Factoring Agreement, dated as of September 24, 2013, by and between Rosenthal and Direct, in each case, as the same may be amended, restated, modified or supplemented from time to time, and all documents, agreements and certificates entered into and/or delivered in connection therewith.

"<u>Sale Procedures Motion</u>" means the motion or motions of Sellers, in form and substance acceptable to Buyer and Sellers, to be filed with the Bankruptcy Court seeking approval and entry of the Sale Procedures Order, and, in the event that Buyer is the winning bidder at the Auction or no Competing Bid is submitted, the Sale Order.

"Sale Order" means an Order of the Bankruptcy Court, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B or as otherwise approved by Buyer in its sole and absolute discretion, approving this Agreement and all of the terms and conditions hereof, approving the sale and assignment to Buyer of all of the Purchased Assets (assuming that either Buyer is the winning bidder at the Auction contemplated hereby or no Competing Bid is submitted for the Purchased Assets by the deadline for such bids set forth in the Bid Procedures Order), and approving and authorizing Sellers to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, such order shall find and provide, among other things, that (i) the Purchased Assets sold to Buyer pursuant to this Agreement shall be transferred to Buyer free and clear of all Liens (other than Liens specifically assumed or created by Buyer and Permitted Exceptions), claims (other than Assumed Liabilities), encumbrances and interests (including Liens, claims, encumbrances and interests of any Governmental Body), such Liens, claims, encumbrances and interests to attach to the proceeds of sale of the Purchased Assets, (ii) the Purchased Contracts may be assumed by Sellers and assigned to Buyer under Section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, (iii) Buyer has acted in "good faith" within the meaning of Section 363(m) of the Bankruptcy Code, (iv) this Agreement was negotiated, proposed and entered into by the Parties without collusion, in good faith and from arm's length bargaining positions, (v) the Bankruptcy Court shall retain jurisdiction to resolve any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the breach hereof as provided in Section 12.2 hereof, and (vi) this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby are binding upon, and not subject to rejection or avoidance by, any chapter 7 or chapter 11 trustee of Sellers.

"<u>Sale Procedures Order</u>" means an Order of the Bankruptcy Court, in substantially the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit A</u>, approving the bid procedures with respect to the Auction, the Expense Reimbursement and the Initial Minimum Overbid, and providing that if no qualified Competing Bid is received by the bid deadline established in accordance with the Auction, Buyer's bid shall be determined to be the winning bid for the Purchased Assets.

"<u>Schedule Delivery Deadline</u>" means 5:00 pm Eastern time five (5) Business Days prior to the Auction.

"Sellers" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Seller Documents" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1.

"<u>Software</u>" means, except to the extent generally available for purchase from third Persons, any and all (i) computer programs, including any and all software implementations of algorithms, models and methodologies, whether in source code or object code, (ii) databases and compilations, including any and all data and collections of data, whether machine readable or otherwise, (iii) descriptions, flow-charts and other work product used to design, plan, organize and develop any of the foregoing, screens, user interfaces, report formats, firmware, development tools, templates, menus, buttons and icons and (iv) all documentation including user manuals and other training documentation related to any of the foregoing, in each case, relating to the Business.

"Stayed Tax Liens" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.12(d).

"<u>Tax Return</u>" means all returns, declarations, reports, estimates, information returns and statements required to be filed in respect of any Taxes.

"Taxes" means (i) all federal, state, local or foreign taxes, charges or other assessments, including, without limitation, all net income, gross receipts, capital, sales, use, ad valorem, value added, transfer, franchise, profits, Inventory, capital stock, license, withholding, payroll, employment, social security, unemployment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, property and estimated taxes, and (ii) all interest, penalties, fines, additions to tax or additional amounts imposed by any taxing authority in connection with any item described in clause (i).

"<u>Technology</u>" means, collectively, all designs, formulae, algorithms, procedures, methods, techniques, ideas, know-how, research and development, technical data, programs, subroutines, tools, materials, specifications, processes, inventions (whether patentable or unpatentable and whether or not reduced to practice), apparatus, creations, improvements, works of authorship and other similar materials, and all recordings, graphs, drawings, reports, analyses, and other writings, and other tangible embodiments of the foregoing, in any form whether or not specifically listed herein, and all related technology, that are used in, incorporated in, embodied in, displayed by or relate to, or are used or useful in the Business or in the design, development, reproduction, maintenance or modification of, any of the Products.

"Termination Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(d).

"<u>Trade Secrets</u>" has the meaning set forth in <u>Section 1.1</u> (in the definition of Intellectual Property).

"<u>Transfer Taxes</u>" means sales, use, stamp, documentary stamp, recording, transfer or similar fees or Taxes or governmental charges (including any interest, fine, penalty, additions to Tax or additional amount thereon) payable in connection with the Sellers' transfer of the Purchased Assets to Buyer pursuant to this Agreement.

"Transferred Employees" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.10(b).

"<u>WARN Act</u>" means the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988, as amended, and any similar state Law related thereto.

#### Section 1.2 Other Definitional and Interpretive Matters.

(a) Unless otherwise expressly provided, for purposes of this Agreement, the following rules of interpretation shall apply:

<u>Calculation of Time Period</u>. When calculating the period of time before which, within which or following which any act is to be done or step taken pursuant to this Agreement, the date that is the reference date in calculating such period shall be excluded. If the last day of such period is a non-Business Day, the period in question shall end on the next succeeding Business Day.

Dollars. Any reference in this Agreement to \$ shall mean U.S. dollars.

Exhibits/Schedules. The Exhibits and Schedules to this Agreement are hereby incorporated and made a part hereof and are an integral part of this Agreement. All Exhibits and Schedules annexed hereto or referred to herein are hereby incorporated in and made a part of this Agreement as if set forth in full herein. Any matter or item disclosed on one Schedule shall not be deemed to have been disclosed on any other Schedule unless explicitly cross-referenced thereto. Any capitalized terms used in any Schedule or Exhibit but not otherwise defined therein shall be defined as set forth in this Agreement.

<u>Gender and Number</u>. Any reference in this Agreement to gender shall include all genders, and words imparting the singular number only shall include the plural and vice versa.

<u>Headings</u>. The provision of a Table of Contents, the division of this Agreement into Articles, Sections and other subdivisions and the insertion of headings are for convenience of reference only and shall not affect or be utilized in construing or interpreting this Agreement. All references in this Agreement to any "Section" are to the corresponding Section of this Agreement unless otherwise specified.

<u>Herein</u>. The words such as "<u>herein</u>," "<u>hereinafter</u>," "<u>hereof</u>," and "<u>hereunder</u>" refer to this Agreement as a whole and not merely to a subdivision in which such words appear unless the context otherwise requires.

<u>Including</u>. The word "<u>including</u>" or any variation thereof means "<u>including</u>, <u>without limitation</u>" and shall not be construed to limit any general statement that it follows to the specific or similar items or matters immediately following it.

(b) The Parties hereto have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement and, in the event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as jointly drafted by the Parties hereto and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any Party by virtue of the authorship of any provision of this Agreement.

#### ARTICLE II PURCHASE AND SALE OF ASSETS; ASSUMPTION OF LIABILITIES

Section 2.1 <u>Purchase and Sale of Assets</u>. On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Closing Buyer shall purchase, acquire and accept from Sellers, and Sellers shall sell, transfer, assign, convey and deliver to Buyer the Purchased Assets. "<u>Purchased Assets</u>" shall mean all of Sellers' right, title and interest in, to and under the following assets of Sellers (but excluding Excluded Assets) as of the Closing related to the Business:

(a) all accounts receivable of Sellers related to the Business including, without limitation, any accounts receivable arising out of or in connection with any Excluded Contract or Excluded Asset;

(b) all cash, cash equivalents, bank deposits and similar cash items of Sellers, other than the Cash Payment;

(c) all Inventory;

(d) all deposits (including, without limitation, all customer deposits and security deposits for rent, electricity, telephone or otherwise, but excluding customer and security deposits relating to stores subject to Real Property Leases that are Excluded Assets) and other prepaid charges and expenses of Sellers;

(e) subject to the provisions of <u>Section 9.1(g)</u>, all rights of Sellers under each Real Property Lease set forth on <u>Schedule 1.1(c)</u>, together with Sellers' interests in and to all improvements and fixtures under each such Real Property Lease, and other appurtenances thereto, and Sellers' rights in respect thereof;

- (f) all Furniture and Equipment;
- (g) all Purchased Intellectual Property;
- (h) all Purchased Contracts;

(i) all Sellers' Documents that are used in, held for use in or intended to be used in, or that arise out of, the Business, including Documents relating to accounts receivable, Products, services, marketing, advertising, promotional materials, Purchased Intellectual Property and all files, customer lists, files and documents (including credit information), supplier lists, records, literature and correspondence, whether or not physically located on any of the premises referred to in clause (e) above, excluding any Documents exclusively related to any Excluded Assets;

(j) all Permits used by Sellers in the Business, to the extent transferable:

(k) all supplies owned by Sellers and used in connection with the

Business;

(I) to the extent transferable, all insurance policies or rights to proceeds thereof relating to the Purchased Assets (other than any directors and officers or fiduciary insurance policy, each of which shall be an Excluded Asset);

(m) all rights of Sellers under non-disclosure or confidentiality, noncompete, or non-solicitation agreements with Employees and agents of Sellers or with third parties to the extent relating to the Business or the Purchased Assets (or any portion thereof);

(n) all rights of Sellers under or pursuant to all warranties, representations and guarantees made by suppliers, manufacturers and contractors if and to the extent that such rights are assignable by operation of Law and relating to Products sold, or services provided, to Sellers or to the extent affecting any Purchased Assets other than any warranties, representations and guarantees pertaining exclusively to any Excluded Assets;

(o) all goodwill and other intangible assets associated with the Business, including customer and supplier lists and the goodwill associated with the Purchased Intellectual Property owned by Sellers;

(p) all Prepaids;

(q) any cash refunds for Taxes received by Sellers after the Closing Date (inclusive of any interest received thereon, net of any Taxes incurred with respect thereto) with respect to Taxes paid on or prior to the Closing Date;

(r) rights, claims or causes of action of Sellers, including any rights or claims as arise under Chapter 5 of the Bankruptcy Code, against the Critical Trade Vendors;

(s) any rights, claims or causes of action of Sellers against third parties other than Tax authorities relating to <u>the</u> assets, properties, Business or operations of Sellers arising out of events <u>or transfers</u> occurring on or prior to the Closing Date-other than causes of action, <u>including any rights or claims as arise</u> under Chapter 5 of <del>Title</del> 11 of the United States Code (excluding any such causes of action of Sellers against Critical Trade Vendors which shall be Purchased Assets)Bankruptcy Code;

(t) any rights, claims or causes of action of Sellers, including any rights or claims as arise under Chapter 5 of the Bankruptcy Code, against officers, directors, employees, members and managers of the Sellers;

(u) to the extent transferable, all Tax credits of Sellers;

(v) to the extent that Buyer determines, in its sole and absolute discretion, to assume any Benefit Plan, any trust or other funding vehicle associated with such Benefit Plan; and

(w) the assets set forth on <u>Schedule 2.1</u>.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Buyer may, from time to time, amend the Purchased Assets so as to include additional assets in its sole and absolute discretion until three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date (except that Buyer may not add as a Purchased Asset anything specifically listed in <u>Section 2.2</u> below as an Excluded Asset, other than Excluded Contracts, and accounts receivable and proceeds relating thereto, and Intellectual Property rights); and <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that no such addition shall result in any adjustment of the Purchase Price. Furthermore, Buyer may, from time to time, amend <u>Schedule 1.1(c)</u> so as to transfer one or more Real Property Leases to <u>Schedule 2.6(c)</u> in its sole and absolute discretion until three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, in which case such Real Property Lease shall be treated in accordance with <u>Section 2.6(c)</u>.

Section 2.2 <u>Excluded Assets</u>. Nothing herein contained shall be deemed to sell, transfer, assign or convey the Excluded Assets to Buyer, and Sellers shall retain all right, title and interest to, in and under the Excluded Assets. "<u>Excluded Assets</u>" shall mean all assets, properties, interests and rights of Sellers other than the Purchased Assets, including without limitation each of the following assets:

(a) all customer and security deposits relating to Real Property Leases that are Excluded Assets;

(b) all Excluded Contracts;

(c) all obligations, Liabilities and Indebtedness, including any note Indebtedness, owed to or by any Seller to or by any Affiliate of any Seller;

(d) any Intellectual Property rights of Sellers other than the Purchased Intellectual Property;

(e) any (i) confidential personnel and medical records pertaining to any Employee; (ii) other books and records that Sellers are required by Law to retain or that Sellers determine are necessary or advisable to retain including, without limitation, Tax Returns, financial statements, and corporate or other entity filings; provided, however, that Buyer shall have, to the extent allowed by applicable Law, the right to make copies of any portions of such retained books and records that relate to the Business or any of the Assets; (iii) minute books, stock or membership interest records and corporate seals; and (iv) documents relating to proposals to acquire the Business by Persons other than Buyer;

(f) any causes of action under Chapter 5 of Title 11 of the United States Code, and proceeds deriving therefrom, other than causes of action of Sellers that are Purchased Assets;[intentionally omitted];

(g) all of Sellers' rights under this Agreement and/or other documents and agreements executed in connection with the transactions provided for herein;

(h) any trust or other funding vehicle associated with any Benefit Plan that is not a Purchased Asset;

- (i) the Assets set forth on <u>Schedule 2.2(i)</u>; and
- (j) any equity interests in any Seller or any subsidiary thereof.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Buyer may, from time to time, exclude additional assets from the Purchased Assets in its sole and absolute discretion until three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that no such exclusion shall result in any adjustment of the Purchase Price.

Assumption of Liabilities. On and subject to the terms and Section 2.3 conditions of this Agreement, Buyer shall assume and become responsible for all of the Assumed Liabilities at the Closing. Buyer will not assume or have any responsibility, however, with respect to any other obligation or liability of Sellers not included within the definition of Assumed Liabilities, including, without limitation: (i) Taxes (x) imposed on any Seller for any period or (y) related to the Business or the Purchased Assets for all Tax periods (or portions thereof) ending on or prior to the Closing (except, in each case, as expressly provided below); (ii) any costs or expenses incurred in connection with, or related to, the administration of the Bankruptcy Cases, including, without limitation, any accrued professional fees and expenses of attorneys, accountants, financial advisors and other professional advisors related to the Bankruptcy Cases (except as expressly provided below); (iii) liabilities to the extent relating to the Excluded Assets, including Liabilities relating to Excluded Contracts; (iv) Liabilities and obligations of Sellers under this Agreement; (v) all Liabilities and obligations arising under any Purchased Contract (and all liabilities for any breach, act or omission under any Purchased Contract) arising prior to the Closing other than any Cure Amounts paid in respect thereof pursuant to Section 3.1: (vi) all obligations, Liabilities and Indebtedness, including any note Indebtedness, owed by any Seller to any Affiliate of any Seller; (vii) other than as set forth in Section 2.3(i), any Employee Obligations to any Employee arising out of such Employee's employment by Sellers prior to the Closing; (viii) any Employee Claim of any Employee arising out of such Employee's employment by Sellers prior to the Closing; (ix) other than as set forth in Section 2.3(o), any WARN Act Liabilities; and (x) all other Liabilities and obligations for which Buyer does not expressly assume any liability (collectively, the "Excluded Liabilities"). Buyer's assumption of the Assumed Liabilities shall in no way expand the rights or remedies of third parties against Buyer as compared to the rights and remedies which such parties would have had against Sellers had this Agreement not been consummated. From and after the Closing Date, Buyer shall pay, perform and discharge, as and when due or as may otherwise be agreed between Buyer and the obligee, all of the Assumed Liabilities. The "Assumed Liabilities" are specifically as follows:

- (a) all Liabilities of Sellers set forth on <u>Schedule 2.3(a)</u>;
- (b) all Cure Amounts required to be paid in respect of the Purchased

Contracts;

(c) all Liabilities under the Purchased Contracts arising after the

Closing;

(d) all Liabilities arising from the sale of Products after the Closing pursuant to product warranties, product returns, rebates and otherwise;

(e) all Liabilities with respect to the Business or the Purchased Assets arising after the Closing;

(f) all allowed pre-petition Liabilities to Qualified Critical Trade Vendors to the extent that such Liabilities have not previously been paid by Sellers;

(g) all undisputed post-petition Liabilities to Critical Trade Vendors that have not agreed to the terms and conditions set forth in the Critical Trade Vendor Motion to the extent that such Liabilities have not previously been paid by Sellers;

(h) all Liabilities under Sellers' gift cards relating to the Purchased Assets;

(i) all Liabilities associated with (i) Employee vacation and sick leave accruals with respect to Transferred Employees and (ii) severance benefits, determined in accordance with Sellers' severance policy as set forth on <u>Schedule 5.13</u>, for any Employee who is not a Transferred Employee, in each case only to the extent that any such Liability is an allowed administrative claim in the Bankruptcy Cases;

(j) the Rosenthal Agreements and all Liabilities of Sellers thereunder;

(k) all real property Taxes to the extent required for Buyer to assume any Real Property Lease that is a Purchased Contract;

(I) [intentionally omitted];

(m) subject to <u>Section 12.8</u>, all Liabilities relating to amounts required to be paid by Buyer hereunder;

(n) Transfer Taxes; and

(o) all WARN Act Liabilities incurred by Sellers on or after the Closing Date to the extent that such Liabilities directly and solely result from Buyer's failure to offer employment to a sufficient number of Employees to avoid incurring such Liabilities (by way of example, in the event that Sellers would incur WARN Act Liabilities based on the termination of 50 Employees at a single employment site, (i) if Sellers terminate one Employee prior to or after the Closing Date and Buyer terminates 49 Employees on or after the Closing Date, any WARN Act Liabilities that arise (based on the termination of 50 Employees at a single employment site) shall not have directly and solely resulted from Buyer's failure to offer employment to a sufficient number of Employees to avoid incurring such Liabilities, and such Liabilities will not be Assumed Liabilities under this Agreement, (ii) if Sellers terminate zero Employees prior to or after the Closing Date and Buyer terminates 50 Employees on or after the Closing Date, any WARN Act Liabilities that arise shall have directly and solely resulted from Buyer's failure to offer employment to a sufficient number of Employees and Buyer shall assume all WARN Act Liabilities associated with such 50 Employees, and (iii) if Sellers terminate 10 Employees prior to or after the Closing Date and Buyer terminates 50 Employees on or after the Closing Date, any WARN Act Liabilities that arise shall have directly and solely resulted from Buyer's failure to offer employment to a sufficient number of Employees and Buyer shall assume all WARN Act Liabilities associated with the 50 (not 60) Employees terminated by Buyer); <u>provided</u>, that Sellers shall have taken all appropriate action to contest such Liabilities, if any, before the applicable Governmental Body.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Buyer may, from time to time, amend <u>Schedule 2.3(a)</u> so as to assume additional Liabilities of Sellers in its sole and absolute discretion until three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date. Such additional Liabilities shall be Assumed Liabilities for all purposes hereunder.

Section 2.4 <u>Purchased Assets</u>. Subject to the provisions of <u>Section 2.6(c)</u> regarding the post-Closing time frame and procedure for assumption or rejection of Real Property Leases, at Closing, and pursuant to Section 363 and Section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, Sellers shall sell or assume and assign to Buyer and Buyer shall buy or take an assignment from Sellers, as the case may be, the Purchased Assets and Assumed Liabilities.

# Section 2.5 Further Conveyances and Assumptions.

(a) From time to time following the Closing, Sellers and Buyer shall, and shall cause their respective Affiliates to, execute, acknowledge and deliver all such further conveyances, notices, assumptions, releases and acquaintances and such other instruments, and shall take such further actions, as may be reasonably necessary or appropriate to assure fully to Buyer and its respective successors or assigns, all of the properties, rights, titles, interests, estates, remedies, powers and privileges intended to be conveyed to Buyer under this Agreement and the Seller Documents (including, without limitation, the Residual Amounts) and to assure fully to Sellers and their respective Affiliates and their respective successors and assigns, the assumption of the liabilities and obligations intended to be assumed by Buyer under this Agreement and the Seller Documents, and to otherwise make effective the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.

(b) If following the Closing, the Sellers receive or become aware that they hold any property, right, claim, demand or asset which constitutes a Purchased Asset then the Sellers shall transfer such property, right, claim, demand or asset to the Buyer as promptly as practicable for no additional consideration.

(c) If following the Closing, the Buyer receives or becomes aware that it holds any property, right, claim, demand or asset which constitutes an Excluded Asset, then the Buyer shall transfer such property, right, claim, demand or asset to the Sellers as promptly as practicable for no additional consideration.

#### Section 2.6 <u>Transitional Matters</u>.

(a) From and after Closing, Sellers shall retain full right and authority to use, enforce, pursue remedies and take actions with respect to any of the Excluded Assets and Excluded Liabilities.

(b) Buyer will retain and make available to Sellers, for a period of six (6) years following the Closing Date (or longer if reasonably requested), the Documents delivered by Sellers to Buyer, if reasonably needed by Sellers for liquidation, winding up, Tax reporting or other proper purposes; provided, that Sellers will use reasonable efforts to retain copies of Documents and the Parties otherwise will reasonably cooperate to minimize inconvenience to Buyer.

Real Property Leases. Sellers agree that from the date of this (C) Agreement through the date that is one hundred and twenty (120) days after the Closing Date, or such other date mutually agreed to by Buyer and Sellers, provided, that in no event shall such date exceed two hundred and ten (210) days after the Petition Date, Sellers will provide Buyer, at Buyer's expense, with the rights and benefits under the Real Property Leases set forth on Schedule 2.6(c). Buyer's access to and use of the real property subject to the Real Property Leases set forth on Schedule 2.6(c) will be subject to and consistent with the Sellers' obligations, if any, to third parties with respect to such Real Property Leases; and Buyer will perform such obligations as required and shall assume all liability for any damage or destruction to the real property as a result of such access and use. In addition to the Purchase Price, Buyer shall promptly pay the reasonable and actual incremental costs or administrative claims incurred by Sellers as a result of providing such rights and benefits to Buyer or due to the deferral of the decision to reject such unexpired leases in order to provide such use or access, a good faith estimate of which incremental costs shall be set forth in Schedule 2.6(c), and shall name Sellers as an additional insured on any insurance policy (including liability and casualty policies) covering such real property. Sellers shall, upon the written request of Buyer, promptly make a motion in the Bankruptcy Cases to assume and assign to Buyer any Real Property Lease listed on Schedule 2.6(c) and any such Real Property Lease shall be deemed to be a Purchased Contract. The Cure Amounts, as determined by the Bankruptcy Court, if any, necessary to cure all defaults, if any, and to pay all actual or pecuniary losses that have resulted from any defaults under those Real Property Leases set forth on Schedule 2.6(c) to be assumed and assigned to Buyer shall be paid by Buyer, and Sellers shall have no liability therefor or thereafter. Buyer shall provide Sellers with not less than fifteen (15) days' prior written notice specifying the date that it will no longer require such rights and benefits with respect to any Real Property Lease set forth on Schedule 2.6(c) and Buyer shall have no further obligation with respect to such incremental costs or administrative claims after the later of such termination date or the last day of the payment period in which such termination date occurs and any such Real Property Lease shall be deemed an Excluded Contract.

Section 2.7 <u>Bulk Sales Laws</u>. Buyer hereby acknowledges that it has no objection to Sellers not complying with the requirements and provisions of any "bulk-

transfer" Laws of any jurisdiction that may otherwise be applicable with respect to the sale of any or all of the Purchased Assets to Buyer.

## ARTICLE III CONSIDERATION

Purchase Price; Assumed Liabilities. In consideration of the Section 3.1 transfer of the Purchased Assets to Buyer and the other undertakings set forth herein, the purchase price (the "Purchase Price") for the Purchased Assets shall be (i) Eleven Twelve Million Six Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$112,6500,000.00) to be satisfied in the form of a credit against the amount of Sellers' debt under the DIP Financing and the Loan Agreement pursuant to Section 363(k) of the Bankruptcy Code, plus (ii) the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities by Buyer at Closing. The Cure Amounts, as determined by the Bankruptcy Court, if any, necessary to cure all defaults, if any, and to pay all actual or pecuniary losses that have resulted from such defaults under the Purchased Contracts assumed at Closing, shall be paid by Buyer on the Closing Date, and Sellers shall have no liability therefor. The Lender shall make such credit bid. In accordance with the provisions of Section 12.8, it is understood and agreed that Lender, in its capacity as Buyer, may assign the right to receive the Purchased Assets and all other rights of Buyer hereunder, and the obligation to assume the Assumed Liabilities, to one of more of its designees. In consideration of such assignment, such designee(s) shall be required to issue to the Lender certain equity securities and debt.

## ARTICLE IV CLOSING AND TERMINATION

Section 4.1 <u>Closing Date</u>. Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in <u>Section 9.1</u>, <u>Section 9.2</u> and <u>Section 9.3</u> hereof (or the waiver thereof by the Party entitled to waive that condition), the closing of the purchase and sale of the Purchased Assets and the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities provided for in <u>Article II</u> hereof (the "<u>Closing</u>") shall take place at the offices of Venable LLP (or at such other place as the Parties may designate in writing) as soon as practicable following the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in <u>Article IX</u> (other than conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of such conditions) and no later than a date that is three (3) Business Days after the Sale Order becomes a Final Order, unless extended by Buyer. The date on which the Closing shall be held is referred to in this Agreement as the "<u>Closing Date</u>," and the Closing shall be deemed effective at the close of business on the Closing Date.

Section 4.2 <u>Deliveries by Sellers</u>. At the Closing, Sellers shall deliver to Buyer:

(a) a duly executed bill of sale and assignment;

(b) duly executed assignments of the U.S. trademark registrations and applications included in the Purchased Intellectual Property, in a form suitable for

#### Case 14-16484-CMG Doc 256 Filed 06/06/14 Entered 06/06/14 16:24:27 Desc Main Document Page 75 of 99

recording in the U.S. trademark office, and general assignments of all other Purchased Intellectual Property;

(c) the officer's certificate required to be delivered pursuant to <u>Section</u> 9.1(a) and <u>Section 9.1(b)</u>; and

(d) all other instruments of conveyance and transfer, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Buyer, as may be necessary to convey the Purchased Assets to Buyer.

Section 4.3 <u>Deliveries by Buyer</u>. At the Closing, Buyer shall deliver to Sellers:

(a) the officer's certificate required to be delivered pursuant to <u>Section</u> <u>9.2(a)</u> and <u>Section 9.2(b)</u>; and

(b) all other instruments of conveyance and transfer, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Sellers, as may be necessary to convey the Purchased Assets to Buyer and for Buyer to assume the Assumed Liabilities.

Section 4.4 <u>Termination of Agreement</u>. This Agreement may be terminated prior to the Closing as follows:

(a) by mutual written consent of Sellers and Buyer;

(b) by Sellers or Buyer, as applicable, if any of the conditions set forth in <u>Section 9.3</u> shall have become incapable of fulfillment other than as a result of a breach by the Sellers or Buyer, as applicable, of any covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement, and such condition is not waived by the non-breaching party;

(c) by Sellers or Buyer if there shall be in effect a final Order or other nonappealable final action of a Governmental Body of competent jurisdiction permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby; it being agreed that the Parties hereto shall promptly appeal any adverse determination which is not nonappealable (and pursue such appeal with reasonable diligence);

(d) by Buyer, if the Closing shall not have occurred on or before the close of business on the date which is seven (7) Business Days after the Sale Order becomes a Final Order or such later date as determined by Buyer (the "<u>Termination</u> <u>Date</u>"); <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that if the Closing shall not have occurred on or before the Termination Date and either (a) such failure to close is due to (1) a material breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement by Buyer or (2) a breach by Buyer of the obligations set forth in <u>Section 8.2</u> hereof, or (b) (1) Sellers have not materially breached any representation, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement and (2) Sellers have not breached the obligations set forth in <u>Section 8.2</u> hereof, then Buyer may not terminate this Agreement pursuant to this <u>Section 4.4(d)</u>;

(e) by Buyer, if any of the conditions to the obligations of Buyer set forth in <u>Section 9.1</u> shall have become incapable of fulfillment other than as a result of a breach by Buyer of any covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement, and such condition is not waived by Buyer;

(f) by Buyer, if there shall be a material breach by Sellers of any representation or warranty, or any covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement which would result in a failure of a condition set forth in <u>Section 9.1</u> or <u>Section 9.3</u> and which breach cannot be cured or has not been cured by the earlier of (i) ten (10) Business Days after the giving of written notice by Buyer to Sellers of such breach and (ii) the Termination Date;

(g) by Buyer in the event the Petition Date has not occurred within three (3) Business Days after the date hereof, or in the event the Bankruptcy Court has not entered (i) the Bid Procedures Order on or before thirty (30) days following the Petition Date and (ii) the Sale Order on or before ninety (90) days after the Petition Date;

(h) by Buyer or Sellers, if the Closing has not occurred by May 31, 2014; <u>provided</u> that if a party is in breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement, then such party shall not be entitled to terminate pursuant to this <u>Section 4.4(h)</u>;

(i) by Sellers, if any condition to the obligations of Sellers set forth in <u>Section 9.2</u> shall have become incapable of fulfillment other than as a result of a breach by Sellers of any covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement, and such condition is not waived by Sellers;

(j) by Sellers, if there shall be a material breach by Buyer of any representation or warranty, or any covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement which would result in a failure of a condition set forth in <u>Section 9.2</u> or <u>Section 9.3</u> and which breach cannot be cured or has not been cured by the earlier of (i) ten (10) Business Days after the giving of written notice by Sellers to Buyer of such breach and (ii) the Termination Date;

(k) by Sellers, if the Closing shall not have occurred on or before the Termination Date; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that if the Closing shall not have occurred on or before the Termination Date and either (a) such failure to close is due to (1) a material breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement by Sellers or (2) a breach by Sellers of the obligations set forth in <u>Section 8.2</u> hereof, or (b) (1) Buyer has not materially breached any representation, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement and (2) Buyer has not breached the obligations set forth in <u>Section 8.2</u> hereof, then Sellers may not terminate this Agreement pursuant to this <u>Section 4.4(k)</u>; or

(I) with no further action by either Party, if the Bankruptcy Court shall enter an Order approving a Competing Bid and the transaction contemplated by such Competing Bid is thereafter consummated.

Procedure Upon Termination. In the event of termination and Section 4.5 abandonment by Buyer or Sellers, or both such Parties, pursuant to Section 4.4 hereof, written notice thereof shall forthwith be given to the other Party or Parties, and this Agreement shall terminate, and the purchase of the Purchased Assets hereunder shall be abandoned, without further action by Buyer or Sellers. If this Agreement is terminated as provided herein each Party shall return all documents, work papers and other material of any other Party relating to the transactions contemplated hereby, whether so obtained before or after the execution hereof, to the Party furnishing the same. If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Sections 4.4(a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (f), (g), (h) (as to Section 4.4(h), only if Buyer is not in breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement), or (I), Sellers shall pay (i) all reasonable fees, costs and expenses incurred by Buyer in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement through the Petition Date, plus (ii) the Expense Reimbursement to Buyer, and the Parties shall have no further obligations to one another except for any obligations that, by their terms, survive the termination of this Agreement, as described in Section 4.6(a).

#### Section 4.6 Effect of Termination.

(a) In the event that this Agreement is validly terminated in accordance with <u>Section 4.4</u>, this Agreement shall terminate and each of the Parties shall be relieved of its respective duties and obligations arising under this Agreement after the date of such termination and such termination shall be without liability to Buyer or Sellers; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that this <u>Section 4.6</u> and the obligations of the Parties set forth in <u>Section 4.5</u>, <u>Section 8.3</u>, <u>Section 8.5</u> and <u>Article XII</u> hereof shall survive any such termination and shall be enforceable hereunder; and <u>provided further</u>, <u>however</u>, no termination shall relieve any party from liability for its breach or non performance of its obligations hereunder prior to the date of such termination.

(b) <u>Remedies</u>. All remedies hereunder are cumulative and are not exclusive of any other remedies provided by Law.

#### ARTICLE V REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLERS

Sellers hereby jointly and severally represent and warrant to Buyer that:

Section 5.1 <u>Authorization of Agreement</u>. Subject to the entry of the Sale Order: (a) each Seller has all requisite power, authority and legal capacity to execute and deliver this Agreement and each Seller has all requisite power, authority and legal capacity to execute and deliver each other agreement, document, instrument or certificate contemplated by this Agreement or to be executed by any Seller in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the "<u>Seller Documents</u>"), to perform their respective obligations hereunder and thereby; and (b) this Agreement has been, and each of the Seller Documents will be at or prior to the Closing, duly and validly executed and delivered by each Seller and (assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the other Parties hereto and thereto and the entry of the Sale Order) this Agreement constitutes, and each of the Seller Documents when so executed and delivered will constitute, legal, valid and binding obligations of each Seller, enforceable against each Seller in accordance with their respective terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar laws affecting creditors' rights and remedies generally, and subject, as to enforceability, to general principles of equity, including principles of commercial reasonableness, good faith and fair dealing (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding at law or in equity).

Section 5.2 <u>Title to Purchased Assets</u>. Other than the real property subject to the Real Property Leases and the personal property subject to the Personal Property Leases, Sellers have good title to the Purchased Assets and, at the Closing, the Buyer, pursuant to the Sale Order, shall acquire good title in, to and under (subject to the Purchased Contracts (other than Purchased Contracts assumed or assigned post-Closing) being assumed and assigned in accordance with <u>Section 2.1</u>) all of such Purchased Assets, in each case free and clear of all Liens, other than Permitted Exceptions, to the fullest extent permissible under Section 363(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. The Purchased Assets include all of the properties and assets required to operate, in all material respects, the Business in the Ordinary Course of Business. For the sake of clarity, the right to use any assets included in the Purchased Assets in which Sellers have leasehold or non-ownership rights to use shall be assigned to Buyer only through the assumption and assignment of the Purchased Contracts in accordance with and subject to this Agreement.

Section 5.3 <u>Real Property</u>. <u>Schedule 5.3</u> sets forth a complete list of all real property and interests in real property leased by Sellers (individually, a "<u>Real Property</u> <u>Lease</u>" and collectively, the "<u>Real Property Leases</u>") as lessee or lessor in connection with the Business and which are part of the Purchased Assets. Sellers have a valid and enforceable leasehold interest under each Real Property Lease under which it is a lessee.

Section 5.4 <u>Tangible Personal Property</u>. <u>Schedule 1.1(a)</u> sets forth all leases of personal property ("<u>Personal Property Leases</u>") relating to personal property used by Sellers or to which any Seller is a party or by which the properties or assets of any Seller are bound, in each case relating to the Business. Each Seller has a valid and enforceable leasehold interest under each Personal Property Lease under which it is a lessee.

Section 5.5 <u>Intellectual Property</u>. <u>Schedule 1.1(a)</u> sets forth an accurate and complete list of all Intellectual Property. To Sellers' Knowledge, Sellers own all right, title and interest to, or are licensees with respect to, the Purchased Intellectual Property, and can convey such property free and clear of Liens pursuant to the Sale Order. To

the Knowledge of Sellers, (i) no Person is engaging in any activity that infringes any Purchased Intellectual Property and (ii) no claim has been asserted to any Seller that the use of any Purchased Intellectual Property or the operation of the Business infringes or violates the Intellectual Property of any third party. The Purchased Intellectual Property and the rights under the Purchased Contracts include the rights to use all Intellectual Property required to operate the Business as currently conducted.

Section 5.6 <u>Financial Advisors</u>. No Person has acted, directly or indirectly, as a broker, finder or financial advisor for Sellers in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and no Person is entitled to any fee or commission or like payment from Buyer or Sellers in respect thereof, other than Innovation Capital, LLC.

Section 5.7 Litigation. Except as set forth on Schedule 5.7 and other than in connection with the Bankruptcy Cases, there is no suit, action, litigation, arbitration proceeding or governmental proceeding or audit, including appeals and applications for review, in progress, pending or, to the Sellers' Knowledge, threatened against or relating to any Seller or any judgment, decree, injunction, deficiency, rule or order of any court, governmental department, commission, agency, instrumentality or arbitrator which, in any case, is reasonably likely to adversely affect the ability of any Seller to enter into this Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and Sellers have no Knowledge of any existing ground on which any such action, suit or proceeding may be commenced with any reasonable likelihood of success.

Section 5.8 <u>Compliance with Laws</u>. Sellers have conducted and are presently conducting the Business in compliance with all applicable Laws, except where such non-compliance would not result in a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.9 <u>Permits</u>. Sellers are in compliance with the material terms of all such Permits, and all such Permits are valid and in full force and effect, and no proceeding is pending or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened, the object of which is to revoke, limit or otherwise affect any such Permit.

#### Section 5.10 Inventory.

(a) No Inventory is materially damaged in any significant way, including, but not limited, to damage caused by water, except for any such damage which would not have a Material Adverse Effect on the Inventory taken as a whole;

(b) To Sellers' Knowledge, the Inventory has not been part of a current or past product recall; and

(c) The Inventory is in material compliance with United States federal guidelines for such products as of the date hereof, except for such compliance failure which would not have a Material Adverse Effect on the Inventory taken as a whole.

Section 5.11 <u>Contracts</u>. The Purchased Contracts include all Contracts material to the ownership and/or operation of the Business. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 5.7</u>,

Sellers have not, and, to Sellers' Knowledge, no other party to any Purchased Contract has, commenced any action against any of the parties to any Purchased Contract or given or received any written notice of any default or violation under any Purchased Contract that has not been withdrawn or dismissed except to the extent such default or violation will be cured as a result of the payment of the applicable Cure Amounts. Each Purchased Contract is, or will be upon the Closing and payment of the applicable Cure Amounts, valid, binding and in full force and effect in accordance with its terms.

## Section 5.12 Taxes.

(a) All income Tax Returns required to have been filed by Sellers for each of the Sellers' tax years ended through December 31, 2012 have been filed, and all income Tax Returns required to have been filed by Sellers for the Sellers' tax year ended December 31, 2013 are on extension;

(b) Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 5.12</u>:

(i) To the Knowledge of the Sellers, no federal or state income Tax Return audits are pending with respect to any Seller;

(ii) No Seller has received written notice from any Governmental Body of future federal or state income Tax Return audits;

(iii) There are no material liens with respect to Taxes upon any of the Purchased Assets, other than (A) Permitted Exceptions and (B) Liens that may arise to the extent payment of such Taxes is stayed as a result of the Bankruptcy Cases ("<u>Stayed Tax Liens</u>"); and

(iv) No Seller has (A) waived any statute of limitations in respect of any Tax Returns that have not been filed as of the date hereof or (B) agreed to any extension of time with respect to the assessment of Taxes for which such Taxes have not been paid as of the date hereof, in each case other than pursuant to extensions of time to file Tax Returns obtained in the ordinary course of business.

Section 5.13 Employee Benefits.

(a) <u>Schedule 5.13</u> sets forth all "employee benefit plans", as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, and all other material employee benefit arrangements, employment agreements or payroll practices maintained by Sellers or to which Sellers contribute or are obligated to contribute thereunder for Employees (the "<u>Benefit Plans</u>"). Neither Sellers nor any of their affiliates and any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) which is or has ever been under common control, or which is or has ever been treated as a single employer, with any of them under Section 414(b), (c), (m) or (o) of the Code has in the last six years contributed or has been obligated to contribute to any "employee pension plans", as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA, subject to Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code, including a "multiemployer plan", as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA. None of the Seller Plans provide for post-employment life or health insurance, benefits or coverage for any participant or any beneficiary of a

participant, except as may be required under the Consolidate Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended, ("<u>COBRA</u>") and at the expense of the participant or the participant's beneficiary.

(b) True, correct and complete copies of the following documents, with respect to each of the Benefit Plans, have been made available or delivered to Buyer by Sellers, to the extent applicable: (i) any plans, all amendments thereto and related trust documents, and amendments thereto; (ii) the most recent Forms 5500 and all schedules thereto; (iii) the most recent IRS determination letter; (iv) the most recent summary plan descriptions; (v) written communications to employees relating to the Benefit Plans; and (vi) written descriptions of all non-written agreements relating to the Benefit Plans.

(c) The Benefit Plans have been maintained, in all material respects, in accordance with their terms and with all provisions of ERISA, the Code and other applicable federal and state laws and all contributions required to have been made under any of the Benefit Plans to any funds or trusts established thereunder or in connection therewith have been made, in all material respects, by the due date thereof (including any valid extension).

# Section 5.14 Labor Matters.

(a) Other than as set forth on <u>Schedule 5.14(a)</u>, (i) no Seller is a party to any labor or collective bargaining agreement with respect to its Employees, (ii) no Employee of any Seller is represented by any labor organization, (iii) no labor organization or group of Employees of any Seller has made a pending demand for recognition or request for certification, (iv) and there are no representation or certification proceedings or petitions seeking a representation election presently pending or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened, to be brought or filed with the National Labor Relations Board or other labor relations tribunal involving any Seller.

(b) There are no strikes, lockouts, work stoppages or slowdowns pending or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened against or involving any Seller.

(c) Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 5.7</u>, there are no unfair labor practice charges, arbitrations, grievances or complaints pending or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened in writing against any Seller relating to the employment or termination of employment of any individual by any Seller except those which, individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(d) Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 5.7</u>, there are no complaints, charges, administrative proceedings or claims against any Seller pending or, to the Knowledge of Sellers, threatened in writing to be brought or filed with any Governmental Body based on or arising out of the employment by any Seller of any Employee except those which, individually or in the aggregate would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(e) [Intentionally Omitted].

(f) The employment of each Employee of Sellers is at-will. <u>Schedule</u> <u>5.14(f)</u> lists all written (and includes a summary of all legally binding oral) employment and consulting agreements to which any Seller is a party or by which it is bound. Complete and correct copies of the agreements or arrangements listed and summarized on <u>Schedule 5.14(f)</u> have been provided or made available to Buyer.

Section 5.15 <u>Sellers' Representations and Warranties Generally</u>. Sellers' representations and warranties herein (including as made or qualified in the Schedules hereto) are made by Sellers in their respective corporate or limited liability company capacity, without personal liability to Sellers' directors, officers, members or counsel, or Sellers' signatory, other than with respect to fraudulent or criminal activity with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby.

#### ARTICLE VI REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER

Buyer hereby represents and warrants to Sellers that:

Section 6.1 <u>Organization and Good Standing</u>. Buyer is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of New Jersey.

Section 6.2 Authorization of Agreement. Buyer has full limited liability company power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and each other agreement. document, instrument or certificate contemplated by this Agreement or to be executed by Buyer in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby (the "Buyer Documents"), and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution, delivery and performance by Buyer of this Agreement and each Buyer Document have been duly authorized by all necessary action on behalf of Buyer. This Agreement has been, and each Buyer Document will be at or prior to the Closing, duly executed and delivered by Buyer, and (assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the other parties hereto and thereto) this Agreement constitutes, and each Buyer Document when so executed and delivered will constitute, legal, valid and binding obligations of Buyer, enforceable against Buyer, in accordance with their respective terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar laws affecting creditors' rights and remedies generally, and subject, as to enforceability, to general principles of equity, including principles of commercial reasonableness, good faith and fair dealing (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding at law or in equity).

Section 6.3 <u>Financial Advisors</u>. No Person has acted, directly or indirectly, as a broker, finder or financial advisor for Buyer in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and no person is entitled to any fee or commission or like payment in respect thereof.

Section 6.4 <u>Litigation</u>. There is no suit, action, litigation, arbitration proceeding or governmental proceeding or audit, including appeals and applications for review, in progress, pending or, to the best of Buyer's knowledge, threatened against or relating to Buyer or any judgment, decree, injunction, deficiency, rule or order of any court, governmental department, commission, agency, instrumentality or arbitrator which, in any case, is reasonably likely to adversely affect the ability of Buyer to enter into this Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and Buyer is not aware of any existing ground on which any such action, suit or proceeding may be commenced with any reasonable likelihood of success.

Section 6.5 <u>Financial Capability</u>. Buyer (i) has, or has firm commitments for, as of the date hereof, and will have as of the Closing, sufficient funds to pay the Purchase Price and the Cure Amounts, assume the Assumed Liabilities, and pay any expenses incurred by Buyer in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (ii) has, as of the date hereof, and will have as of the Closing, the resources and capabilities (financial or otherwise) to perform its obligations hereunder and (iii) has not, as of the date hereof, and will not have as of the Closing, incurred any obligation, commitment, restriction or Liability of any kind which would impair or is reasonably likely to adversely affect such resources and capabilities.

Section 6.6 <u>Condition of the Business</u>. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary, Buyer acknowledges and agrees that Sellers and each of their directors, officers, employees, agents, shareholders, Affiliates, consultants, counsel, accountants and other representatives are not making any representation or warranty whatsoever, express or implied, beyond those expressly given by Sellers in <u>Article V</u> hereof (as modified by the Schedules hereto), and Buyer acknowledges and agrees that, except for the representations and warranties contained therein, the Purchased Assets and the Business are being transferred on a "WHERE IS" and, as to condition, "AS IS" basis.

#### ARTICLE VII BANKRUPTCY COURT APPROVAL

Section 7.1 <u>Approval of Expense Reimbursement and Overbid Protection</u>. Prior to the Petition Date, Sellers shall pay all reasonable fees, costs and expenses incurred by Buyer in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement through the Petition Date. Subject to the entry of the Bid Procedures Order, in consideration for Buyer having expended considerable time and expense in connection with this Agreement and the negotiation thereof and the identification and quantification of assets of Sellers, Sellers shall pay to Buyer promptly upon the effective date of termination of this Agreement in accordance with, and only to the extent provided in, <u>Section 4.5</u> hereof Buyer's reasonable fees, costs and expenses) incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement from and after the Petition Date through the date of termination, provided that the amount of such expense reimbursement does not exceed Two Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (\$200,000.00) (the "Expense Reimbursement"). In addition, the Bid Procedures Order shall provide for an Initial Minimum Overbid over and above the aggregate of the Purchase Price and the Expense Reimbursement, and minimum bid increments thereafter of One Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars (\$100,000.00) (the "<u>Overbid Protection</u>"), and Buyer shall have the ability to credit bid at the Auction the amount of the Expense Reimbursement.

#### Section 7.2 Competing Transaction.

This Agreement is subject to approval by the Bankruptcy Court and (a) the consideration by Sellers of higher or better competing bids (each a "Competing Bid"). From the date hereof (and any prior time) and until the completion of the Auction or as otherwise directed by the Bankruptcy Court, Sellers are permitted to cause their representatives and Affiliates to initiate contact with, solicit or encourage submission of any inquiries, proposals or offers by, any Person (in addition to Buyer and its Affiliates, agents and representatives) in connection with any sale or other disposition of the Purchased Assets. In addition, Sellers shall be permitted to respond to any inquiries or offers to purchase all or any part of the Purchased Assets (each, an "Alternative Proposal"), provided that such Person enters into a non-disclosure agreement in favor of Sellers, and perform any and all other acts related thereto which are required under the Bankruptcy Code or other applicable law, including supplying information relating to the Business and the assets of Sellers to prospective buyers. No later than two Business Days prior to the Auction, Sellers shall provide to Buyer a copy of any such Alternative Proposal and any written response of Sellers thereto and regularly update Buyer as to the status of any negotiations therewith.

(b) Following completion of the Auction, Sellers are not permitted to cause their representatives and Affiliates to initiate contact with, solicit or encourage submission of any inquiries, proposals or offers by, any Person (in addition to Buyer and its agents and representatives) in connection with any sale or other disposition of the Purchased Assets. In addition, unless otherwise directed by the Bankruptcy Court, Sellers shall not after completion of the Auction respond to any Alternative Proposal or perform any other acts related thereto, including supplying information relating to the Business and the assets of Sellers to prospective buyers of the Purchased Assets.

Section 7.3 <u>Bankruptcy Court Filings</u>. Sellers shall use commercially reasonable efforts (A) to file the Sale and Bid Procedures Motion with the Bankruptcy Court on the Petition Date, and (B) to seek entry of the Bid Procedures Order and the Sale Order. Buyer agrees that it will promptly take such actions as are reasonably requested by Sellers to assist in obtaining entry of the Bid Procedures Order and the Sale Order, including furnishing affidavits or other documents or information for filing with the Bankruptcy Court for the purposes, among others, of demonstrating that Buyer is a "good faith" Buyer under Section 363(m) of the Bankruptcy Code. In the event the entry of the Bid Procedures Order and the Sale Order shall be appealed, Sellers shall use commercially reasonable efforts to defend such appeal.

#### ARTICLE VIII COVENANTS

Section 8.1 <u>Access to Information</u>. Sellers agree that, prior to the Closing Date, Buyer shall be entitled, through their respective officers, employees and representatives (including their respective legal advisors and accountants), to make such investigation of the properties, businesses and operations of the Business and such examination of the books, records and financial condition of the Business, the Purchased Assets and the Assumed Liabilities as they reasonably request and to make extracts and copies of such books and records. Any such investigation and examination shall be conducted during regular business hours upon reasonable advance written notice and under reasonable circumstances and shall be subject to restrictions under applicable Law. Sellers shall cause their respective officers, employees, consultants, agents, accountants, attorneys and other representatives to cooperate with Buyer and Buyer's representatives in connection with such investigation and examination, and Buyer and its representatives shall cooperate with Sellers and their respective representatives and shall use their reasonable efforts to minimize any disruption to the Business.

Section 8.2 <u>Further Assurances</u>. Each of Sellers and Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to (a) take all actions necessary or appropriate to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement on or prior to the Termination Date and (b) cause the fulfillment at the earliest practicable date of all of the conditions to their respective obligations to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

# Section 8.3 Confidentiality.

(a) Buyer acknowledges that the confidential information provided to them in connection with this Agreement, including under <u>Section 8.1</u>, and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, is subject to the terms and conditions of that certain confidentiality provision set forth in Section 9.19 of the DIP Financing.

(b) Following the completion of the Auction, Sellers agree to maintain, and shall cause their respective Affiliates to maintain, unless disclosure is required by applicable Law, the confidentiality of any confidential information regarding the Business which is in Sellers' or any of their respective Affiliate's possession or of which Sellers or any of their respective Affiliates are aware. Sellers hereby further agree, unless disclosure is required by applicable Law, to take all appropriate steps, consistent with Sellers' past practice, and to cause each of their respective Affiliates to take all appropriate steps, consistent with Sellers' past practice, and to cause each of their respective Affiliates to take all appropriate steps, consistent with Sellers' past practice, to safeguard such confidential information and to protect it against disclosure, misuse, espionage, loss and theft. In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, Sellers shall not, and shall cause their respective Affiliates not to, unless required by applicable Law, disclose to any Person (a) any confidential information regarding the Business, provided, that confidential information shall not include information that becomes generally available to the public other than as a result of the breach of this <u>Section 8.3(b)</u> or information not otherwise

known by the Sellers that becomes available to any Seller from a Person other than Buyer, or (b) any of the discussions or negotiations conducted with Buyer in connection with this Agreement, <u>provided</u>, that Sellers shall be entitled to disclose (i) any information required to be disclosed by Sellers to the Bankruptcy Court, the United States Trustee, parties in interest in the Bankruptcy Cases, other Persons bidding on assets of Sellers, (ii) any information required to be disclosed by Sellers pursuant to any applicable Law (including, without limitation, the Bankruptcy Code), Legal Proceeding or Governmental Authority, or (iii) any information to Sellers' counsel and financial advisor; <u>provided</u>, that, in each case, such disclosure shall be limited to the information that is so required to be disclosed and the Person(s) to whom such disclosure is required. Notwithstanding anything in this <u>Section 8.3</u> to the contrary, unless disclosure is required by applicable Law, the confidentiality of any Trade Secrets of the Business shall be maintained for so long as such Trade Secrets continue to be entitled to protection as Trade Secrets of the Business.

Preservation of Records. Sellers (or any subsequently appointed Section 8.4 bankruptcy estate representative, including, but not limited to, a trustee, a creditor trustee or a plan administrator) and Buyer agree that each of them shall preserve and keep the books and records held by it relating to the pre-Closing Business for a period of six (6) years from the Closing Date and shall make such books and records available to the other parties (and permit such other party to make extracts and copies of such books and records at its own expense) as may be reasonably required by such party in connection with, among other things, any insurance claims by, Legal Proceedings or Tax audits against or governmental investigations of Sellers or Buyer or any of their respective Affiliates or in order to enable Sellers or Buyer to comply with their respective obligations under this Agreement and each other agreement, document or instrument contemplated hereby or thereby. In the event Sellers, on the one hand, or Buyer, on the other hand, wish to destroy such records during such six (6) year period, such Party shall first give twenty (20) days' prior written notice to the other and such other Party shall have the right at its option and expense, upon prior written notice given to such Party within that twenty (20) day period, to take possession of the records within thirty (30) days after the date of such notice.

Section 8.5 <u>Publicity</u>. Neither Sellers, on the one hand, nor Buyer, on the other hand, shall issue any press release or public announcement concerning this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby without obtaining the prior written approval of the other Parties hereto, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, unless, in the sole judgment of Buyer or Sellers, disclosure is otherwise required by applicable Law or with respect to filings to be made with the Bankruptcy Court in connection with this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties may publicly disclose the existence of this Agreement.

Section 8.6 Operation of Business. Until the Closing, Sellers shall use commercially reasonable efforts, except as otherwise required, authorized or restricted pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code or an Order of the Bankruptcy Court, to operate the Business in the Ordinary Course of Business (among other things, Sellers will not incur unreasonable liabilities, including, without limitation, inappropriate increases in Inventory

or factoring of accounts receivable). Sellers shall use commercially reasonable efforts to (A) preserve intact their respective business organizations, (B) maintain the Business and the Purchased Assets (normal wear and tear excepted), (C) keep available the services of their respective officers and Employees, (D) maintain satisfactory relationships with licensors, licensees, suppliers, contractors, distributors, consultants, customers and others having business relationships with Sellers in connection with the operation of the Business (other than payment of pre-petition claims), (E) pay all of their respective post-petition obligations in the Ordinary Course of Business, and (F) continue to operate the Business in all material respects in compliance with all Laws applicable to the Business and Sellers. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, and except (i) as otherwise expressly provided in or contemplated by this Agreement, or (ii) required, authorized or restricted pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code or an Order of the Bankruptcy Court, on or prior to the Closing Date, Sellers may not, without the prior written consent of Buyer, take any of the following actions with respect to the Business:

(a) modify in any manner the compensation of any of the Employees or officers, or accelerate the payment of any such compensation (other than in the Ordinary Course of Business or such that the liability associated with such modification is excluded from the Assumed Liabilities);

(b) engage any new Employee other than in the Ordinary Course of Business, <u>provided</u>, however, that Sellers shall not engage any new Employee whose aggregate annual compensation exceeds \$50,000;

(c) remove or permit to be removed from any building, facility, or real property any Asset or any Inventory (other than in connection with the sale of Inventory in the Ordinary Course of Business and the sale of fixtures, equipment and related assets in connection with the closing of stores in an amount not to exceed \$250,000);

(d) sell, lease or otherwise dispose of, mortgage, hypothecate or otherwise encumber any Asset (other than sales of Inventory in the Ordinary Course of Business and other than any Liens provided for in the DIP Order);

(e) amend, terminate or renew any Contract other than in the Ordinary Course of Business; <u>provided</u>, that any such amendment, termination or renewal shall not increase the term of any such Contract by more than one (1) year or result in an increase in the obligation of any Seller thereunder in excess of \$50,000;

(f) fail to pay any required filing, processing or other fee, or fail to use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain the validity of Sellers' rights in, to or under any Purchased Intellectual Property;

(g) fail to use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain all Permits of Sellers, including those used in the operation of the Business;

(h) make any unusual or extraordinary efforts to collect any outstanding accounts receivable or intercompany obligation, liability or Indebtedness, give any discounts or concessions for early payment of such accounts receivable or

intercompany obligation, liability or Indebtedness, other than the usual discounts given by the Business in the Ordinary Course of Business and make any sales of, or, other than Liens provided for in the DIP Order, convey any interest in, any accounts receivable or intercompany obligation, liability or Indebtedness to any third party;

(i) other than transactions pursuant to agreements or arrangements in effect on the Petition Date as set forth on <u>Schedule 8.6(i)</u>, engage in any transaction with any Affiliate, subsidiary, shareholder, officer or director of any Seller (other than in the Ordinary Course of Business), incur or assume any long term or short term debt with or on behalf of any such Person or guarantee, endorse or otherwise be liable or responsible (whether directly, indirectly, contingently or otherwise) for the obligations of any such Person;

(j) other than as set forth in <u>Section 8.6(a)</u>, increase the salaries or other compensation payable to any of Sellers' directors, officers or Employees;

(k) make any change in their method of accounting, except in accordance with GAAP;

(I) other than with respect to a Competing Bid, enter into any Contract that would survive the Closing (other than in the Ordinary Course of Business and provided that the term of such Contract does not exceeds one (1) year and that such Contract does not create an obligation of any Seller in excess of \$50,000);

(m) return Inventory with an aggregate value of more than \$25,000 to any single vendor;

(n) fail to maintain any insurance policy in effect on the date hereof or amend any such policy other than extensions in the Ordinary Course of Business;

(o) accelerate the payment of any obligation, Liability or Indebtedness of any Seller; and

(p) agree, whether in writing or otherwise, to do any of the foregoing.

Section 8.7 Section 363(b)(1)(A). Buyer shall honor and observe any and all policies of Sellers in effect on the Petition Date prohibiting the transfer of personally identifiable information about individuals and otherwise comply with the requirements of Section 363(b)(1)(A) of the Bankruptcy Code.

Section 8.8 Adequate Assurances Regarding Purchased Contracts and Certain Real Property Leases. With respect to each Purchased Contract and Real Property Lease set forth on <u>Schedule 1.1(c)</u>, Buyer shall provide adequate assurance of the future performance of such Purchased Contract and Real Property Lease by Buyer as required by Sections 365(b)(1)(C) and/or 365(f)(2)(B) of the Bankruptcy Code, as applicable.

Section 8.9 <u>Material Adverse Effect</u>. Sellers shall promptly inform Buyer in writing of the occurrence of any event that has had, or is reasonably expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect.

#### Section 8.10 Employee Matters.

(a) Sellers shall reasonably assist Buyer to engage, in Buyer's sole and absolute discretion, the services of Sellers' (i) store associates and other store staff, (ii) district managers, and (iii) regional managers, in each case currently engaged in staffing the Business ("<u>Prospective Employees</u>"), on terms and conditions satisfactory to Buyer and such Prospective Employees. Buyer shall be provided access to, and be allowed to communicate with, such Prospective Employees. Sellers shall not, and shall not attempt to, engage or transfer the services of any of the Prospective Employees to any other business operated by Sellers or their successors; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that in the event Buyer engages and then later terminates the services of any Prospective Employee, Sellers may later re-engage the services of such individuals.

(b) Buyer shall, in consultation with Sellers, identify the names of the Prospective Employees whose services it wishes to engage at least five (5) days prior to the Closing Date. Such individuals who accept such offer or otherwise continue employment with Buyer are hereinafter referred to as the "<u>Transferred Employees</u>." Nothing herein shall obligate Buyer to employ any Transferred Employee for any particular length of time following the Closing Date.

(c) Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 2.3(a)</u>, Sellers shall, subject to restrictions imposed by the Bankruptcy Code, as such may be modified by order of the Bankruptcy Court, be responsible for payment of all compensation due to Employees with respect to the period prior to the Closing Date, including, but not limited to any unpaid wages, salary, unused vacation or sick leave earned and accrued (to the extent not paid), health benefits, severance, WARN Act Liability (other than as set forth in <u>Section 2.3(p)</u>), or change of control obligations; <u>provided</u>, that Buyer shall be responsible for all Liabilities set forth in <u>Section 2.3(i)</u> in accordance with the terms and provisions thereof.

#### Section 8.11 [Intentionally omitted].

Section 8.12 <u>Stayed Tax Liens</u>. Prior to the Closing, Sellers shall notify Buyer within three (3) Business Days after any Stayed Tax Lien arises.

Section 8.13 <u>Cooperation</u>. Sellers, on the one hand, and Buyer, on the other hand, will provide each other with such cooperation and information as either of them may reasonably request of the other in connection with filing any Tax Return, amended Tax Return or claim for refund, determining a liability for Taxes or a right to a refund of Taxes, or participating in or conducting any audit or other proceeding in respect of Taxes (such cooperation and information shall include providing copies of relevant Tax Returns or portions thereof, together with accompanying schedules, related work papers and documents relating to rulings and other determinations by Tax authorities). In addition, Buyer shall make available to Sellers, without charge to Sellers, such office space and employee support reasonably necessary to assist Sellers to wind up Sellers' operations following the Closing, resolve the Bankruptcy Cases, dissolve any or all of the Sellers and prepare and file the Tax Returns. Any information obtained under this <u>Section 8.12</u> shall be kept confidential except as may be otherwise necessary in connection with the filing of Tax Returns or claims for refund or in conducting any audit or other proceeding.

Section 8.14 <u>Schedules</u>[Intentionally omitted]. On or before the Scheduled Delivery Deadline, Sellers shall deliver all Schedules to this Agreement not theretofore delivered, which Schedules shall be in form and substance satisfactory to Buyer in its sole and absolute discretion.

<u>Section 8.15</u> <u>Purchased Claims. Buyer hereby covenants that it will not</u> <u>commence or file with any local, state or federal agency, court or arbitrator any</u> <u>complaints, charges, claims, lawsuits or grievances, or actions of any kind,</u> <u>whether civil, criminal or administrative, with respect to any Purchased Claim</u> <u>consisting of rights or claims as arise under Chapter 5 of the Bankruptcy Code.</u>

## ARTICLE IX CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

Section 9.1 <u>Conditions Precedent to Obligations of Buyer</u>. The obligation of Buyer to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement is subject to the fulfillment, on or prior to the Closing Date, of each of the following conditions (any or all of which may be waived by Buyer in whole or in part to the extent permitted by applicable Law):

(a) The representations and warranties of Sellers set forth in this Agreement qualified as to materiality shall be true and correct and those not so qualified shall be true and correct in all material respects at and as of the Closing, except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date (in which case such representations and warranties qualified as to materiality shall be true and correct and those not so qualified shall be true and correct in all material respects, on and as of such earlier date); and Buyer shall have received a certificate signed by an authorized officer of each Seller, dated the Closing Date, to the foregoing effect in his or her corporate or limited liability company (not personal) capacity (it being acknowledged and agreed that the signatory to such certificate shall have no personal liability as a result of signing such certificate absent fraud);

(b) Sellers shall have performed and complied in all material respects with all obligations and agreements required in this Agreement to be performed or complied with by them prior to the Closing Date, and Buyer shall have received a certificate signed by an authorized officer of each Seller, dated the Closing Date, to the forgoing effect in his or her corporate or limited liability company (not personal) capacity (it being acknowledged and agreed that the signatory to such certificate shall have no personal liability as a result of signing such certificate absent fraud); (c) Sellers shall have delivered, or caused to be delivered, to Buyer all of the items set forth in <u>Section 4.2;</u>

(d) Buyer shall have received all Permits necessary or useful for the conduct of the Business (which Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to timely obtain);

(e) From the date hereof through the Closing Date, there shall have been no Material Adverse Effect;

(f) The Purchased Contracts shall be sold and assumed and assigned to Buyer by Order of the Bankruptcy Court satisfactory to Buyer in its sole and absolute discretion, except for any Purchased Contracts to be assumed and assigned after the Closing;

(g) The aggregate Cure Amounts as determined by the Bankruptcy Court shall not be more than 125% (exclusive of "Common Area Maintenance" adjustments for the applicable lease year in which the Closing occurs pursuant to the terms of Real Property Leases that are Purchased Assets) of the aggregate Cure Amounts set forth on <u>Schedule 9.1(g)</u> (which Schedule shall set forth each Purchased Contract and the Cure Amount associated therewith);

(h) The period to challenge or contest the validity, amount, perfection, or priority of the claims of the Lenders under the DIP Financing shall have expired with no such challenge or contest having been asserted, or any such challenge or contest having been resolved to the satisfaction of the Buyer in its sole and absolute discretion;

(i) The Bid Procedures Order shall have become a Final Order (unless this condition shall have been waived in writing by Buyer);

(j) The Sale Order shall have become a Final Order (unless this condition shall have been waived in writing by Buyer); and

(k) All consents or similar approvals, if any, required of any Governmental Body to the Closing shall have been received.

Section 9.2 <u>Conditions Precedent to Obligations of Sellers</u>. The obligations of Sellers to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are subject to the fulfillment, prior to or on the Closing Date, of each of the following conditions (any or all of which may be waived by Sellers in whole or in part to the extent permitted by applicable Law):

(a) The representations and warranties of Buyer set forth in this Agreement qualified as to materiality shall be true and correct, and those not so qualified shall be true and correct in all material respects, at and as of the Closing, except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date (in which case such representations and warranties qualified as to materially shall be true and correct, and those not so qualified shall be true and correct in all material respects, on and as of such earlier date); and Sellers shall have received a certificate signed by an authorized officer of Buyer, dated the Closing Date, to the foregoing effect in his or her corporate or limited liability company (not personal) capacity (it being acknowledged and agreed that the signatory to such certificate shall have no personal liability as a result of signing such certificate absent fraud);

(b) Buyer shall have performed and complied in all material respects with all obligations and agreements required by this Agreement to be performed or complied with by Buyer on or prior to the Closing Date; and Sellers shall have received a certificate signed by an authorized officer of Buyer, dated the Closing Date, to the foregoing effect in his or her corporate or limited liability (not personal) capacity (it being acknowledged and agreed that the signatory to such certificate shall have no personal liability as a result of signing such certificate absent fraud);

(c) To the extent that Buyer determines, in its sole and absolute discretion, to assign its rights, interests and obligations hereunder to one or more of its designees, such designee(s) shall deliver to Sellers the certificates required to be delivered pursuant to <u>Section 9.2(a)</u> and <u>Section 9.2(b)</u> hereof, certifying to such matters with respect to itself or themselves;

(d) Buyer shall have delivered, or caused to be delivered, to Sellers the Purchase Price; and

(e) the Sale Order shall have been entered and be effective, not subject to any stay.

Section 9.3 Condition Precedent to Obligations of Buyer and Sellers. The respective obligations of Buyer and Sellers to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are subject to the fulfillment, on or prior to the Closing Date, of the following conditions (which may be waived by Buyer and Sellers in whole or in part to the extent permitted by applicable Law):

(a) there shall not be in effect any Order by a Governmental Body of competent jurisdiction restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 9.4 <u>Frustration of Closing Conditions</u>. Neither Sellers nor Buyer may rely on the failure of any condition set forth in <u>Section 9.1</u>, <u>Section 9.2</u> or <u>Section 9.3</u>, as the case may be, if such failure was caused by such Party's breach of this Agreement.

# ARTICLE X NO SURVIVAL

Section 10.1 <u>No Survival of Representations and Warranties</u>. The Parties hereto agree that the representations and warranties contained in this Agreement shall not survive the Closing hereunder, and none of the Parties shall have any liability to each other after the Closing for any breach thereof. The Parties hereto agree that the covenants contained in this Agreement to be performed after the Closing shall survive

the Closing hereunder, and each Party hereto shall be liable to the other after the Closing for any breach thereof.

#### ARTICLE XI TAX MATTERS

Section 11.1 <u>Transfer Taxes</u>. Buyer shall be responsible for all Transfer Taxes.

Section 11.2 Purchase Price Allocation. Within sixty (60) days after the Closing Date, Buyer and Sellers will agree to a certificate of allocation detailing the allocation of the Purchase Price and Assumed Liabilities among the Purchased Assets. Buyer and Sellers will treat Sellers' transfer of the Purchased Assets to Buyer as an exchange governed by Section 1001 and Section 1060 of the Code and, in accordance with such treatment, will each file an Internal Revenue Service Form 8594 "Asset Acquisition Statement under Section 1.1060-1" at the times and in the manner as required by Treasury Regulation 1060-1 consistent with the certificate of allocation. The certificate of allocation will be conclusive and binding on the Parties for all purposes, including reporting and disclosure requirements under the Code and any foreign, state, or local Tax authority, except as provided by a change in applicable Tax Law or the good faith resolution of a Tax contest.

Section 11.3 <u>Audits, Claims and Proceedings</u>. Sellers shall have the right to control the conduct of the defense of any audit, claim, proceeding, investigation, or other controversy relating to Taxes ("<u>Tax Claim</u>") of Sellers for any taxable period ending on or prior to, or including, the Closing Date; provided, however, that Sellers will not have the right to settle any such Tax Claim if the resolution or determination of such Tax Claim is reasonably likely to materially adversely affect Buyer without first obtaining Buyer's written consent, such consent to not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

## ARTICLE XII MISCELLANEOUS

Section 12.1 <u>Expenses</u>. Except for the Expense Reimbursement that may be owed by Sellers to Buyer pursuant to <u>Section 4.5</u>, if any, each of Sellers and Buyer shall bear their own fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with the negotiation and execution of this Agreement and each other agreement, document and instrument contemplated by this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby; <u>provided</u>, that prior to the Petition Date, Sellers shall pay all reasonable fees, costs and expenses incurred by Buyer in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement through the Petition Date.

# Section 12.2 Submission to Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process.

(a) Without limiting any Party's right to appeal any order of the Bankruptcy Court, (i) the Bankruptcy Court shall retain exclusive jurisdiction to enforce the terms of this Agreement and to decide any claims or disputes which may arise or result from, or be connected with, this Agreement, any breach or default hereunder, or the transactions contemplated hereby, and (ii) any and all proceedings related to the foregoing shall be filed and maintained only in the Bankruptcy Court, and the parties hereby consent to and submit to the jurisdiction and venue of the Bankruptcy Court and shall receive notices at such locations as indicated in <u>Section 12.6</u> hereof; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that if the Bankruptcy Cases have not been commenced or have been closed, the Parties agree to unconditionally and irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey or the courts of the State of New Jersey and any appellate court thereof, for the resolution of any such claim or dispute. The Parties hereby irrevocably waive, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any objection which they may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any such dispute brought in such court or any defense of inconvenient forum for the maintenance of such dispute. Each of the Parties hereto agrees that a judgment in any such dispute may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by Law.

(b) Each of the Parties hereto hereby consents to process being served by any Party to this Agreement in any suit, action or proceeding by delivery of a copy thereof in accordance with the provisions of <u>Section 12.7</u>.

Section 12.3 <u>Waiver of Right to Trial by Jury</u>. Each Party to this Agreement waives any right to trial by jury in any action, matter or proceeding regarding this Agreement or any provision hereof.

Section 12.4 Entire Agreement; Amendments and Waivers. This Agreement (including the Schedules and Exhibits hereto) represents the entire understanding and agreement between the Parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof. Additionally, this Agreement amends, restates and supersedes in its entirety the **Original Purchase Agreement.** This Agreement can be amended, supplemented or changed, and any provision hereof can be waived, only by written instrument making specific reference to this Agreement signed by the Party against whom enforcement of any such amendment, supplement, modification or waiver is sought or, if such amendment, supplement, modification or waiver can be so construed, by both Parties. No action taken pursuant to this Agreement, including any investigation by or on behalf of any Party, shall be deemed to constitute a waiver by the Party taking such action of compliance with any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained herein. The waiver by any Party hereto of a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a further or continuing waiver of such breach or as a waiver of any other or subsequent breach. No failure on the part of any Party to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right, power or remedy hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of such right, power or remedy by such Party preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or remedy. All remedies hereunder are cumulative and are not exclusive of any other remedies provided by law.

Section 12.5 <u>Governing Law</u>. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New Jersey applicable to contracts made and performed in the State of New Jersey.

Section 12.6 <u>Notices</u>. All notices and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed given (i) when delivered personally by hand (with written confirmation of receipt), (ii) when sent by facsimile (with written confirmation of transmission) or electronic mail (and no notice of failure of delivery was received within a reasonable time after such message was sent) or (iii) one Business Day following the day sent by overnight courier (with written confirmation of receipt), in each case at the following addresses, facsimile numbers and e-mail addresses (or to such other address, facsimile number or e-mail address as a Party may have specified by notice given to the other Party pursuant to this provision):

If to Sellers, to:

MEE Apparel LLC and MEE Direct LLC 501 Tenth Avenue, Floor 7 New York, NY 10018 Attention: Jeff Gregg, CRO Telephone: (917) 262-1000 Email: jeffg@thecollective.com

with a copy to:

Cole, Schotz, Meisel, Forman & Leonard, P.A. 25 Main Street Hackensack, New Jersey 07601 Attention: Michael D. Sirota, Esq. Telephone: (201) 525-6262 Telecopier: (201) 678-6262 Email: msirota@coleschotz.com

If to Buyer, to:

Suchman, LLC 501 Tenth Avenue, Floor 7 New York, NY 10018 501 Tenth Avenue, Floor 7 New York, NY 10018 Attention: Gregg Donnenfeld Telephone: (917) 262-1000 Email: Gregg@thecollective.com with a copy to:

Venable LLP 2049 Century Park East, Suite 2100 Los Angeles, CA 90067 Attention: Ronn S. Davids Telephone: (310) 229-9970 Telecopier: (310) 229-9901 Email: RDavids@venable.com

Each Party entitled to notice may change the address to which notices, requests, demands, claims and other communications hereunder are to be delivered by giving all other Parties notices in the manner herein set forth.

Section 12.7 <u>Severability</u>. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal, or incapable of being enforced by any Law or public policy, all other terms or provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any Party. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal, or incapable of being enforced, the Parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the Parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner in order that the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated as originally contemplated to the greatest extent possible.

Section 12.8 <u>Binding Effect; Assignment</u>. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns, including, without limitation, any chapter 11 trustee hereinafter appointed for Sellers' estates or any trustee appointed in a chapter 7 case if the Bankruptcy Cases are converted from chapter 11. Nothing in this Agreement shall create or be deemed to create any third party beneficiary rights in any person or entity not a party to this Agreement except as provided below. No assignment of this Agreement or of any rights or obligations hereunder may be made by either Sellers, on the one hand, or Buyer, on the other hand (by operation of law or otherwise), without the prior written consent of the other Parties hereto and any attempted assignment without the required consents shall be void; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that Buyer intends to (and may, without the consent of Sellers) assign its rights, interests, and obligations hereunder to one or more of its designees.

Section 12.9 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts (including by facsimile or electronic mail), each of which will be deemed to be an original copy of this Agreement and all of which, when taken together, will be deemed to constitute one and the same agreement.

[Signature Pages Follow]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized, as of the date first written above.

SELLERS:

MEE APPAREL LLC

By:

Name: Jeffrey L. Gregg Title: Chief Restructuring Officer

MEE DIRECT LLC

By:

Name:Jeffrey L. Gregg Title: Chief Restructuring Officer

# BUYER:

SUCHMAN, LLC

By: \_\_\_\_\_\_ Name: \_\_\_\_\_\_ Title: \_\_\_\_\_ Document comparison by Workshare Professional on Friday, June 06, 2014 3:19:08 PM

mput.		
Document 1 ID	interwovenSite://CSDMS/CSDOCS/10431198/8	
Description	#10431198v8 <csdocs> - MEE Apparel Asset Purchase Agreement</csdocs>	
Document 2 ID	file://C:\DOCUME~1\dmb\LOCALS~1\Temp\Workshare\w mtemp1374\Amended and Restated Asset Purchase Agreement.doc	
Description	Amended and Restated Asset Purchase Agreement	
Rendering set	Unsaved rendering set	

Legend:		
<b>Insertion</b>		
<b>Deletion</b>		
Moved from		
<u>Moved to</u>		
Style change		
Format change		
Moved deletion		
Inserted cell		
Deleted cell		
Moved cell		
Split/Merged cell		
Padding cell		

Statistics:		
	Count	
Insertions	69	
Deletions	55	
Moved from	0	
Moved to	0	
Style change	0	
Format changed	0	
Total changes	124	